

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

# Cash Management Strategies to Improve the Sustainability of **Small Tayern Businesses**

Maren Michelle Haavig Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Accounting Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Maren Michelle Haavig

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Mary Dereshiwsky, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Roger Mayer, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janet Booker, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

### Abstract

Cash Management Strategies to Improve the Sustainability of Small Tavern Businesses

by

Maren Michelle Haavig

MBA, University of Alaska Southeast, 2012

BBA, University of Alaska Southeast, 1999

BA, Western Washington University, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

#### Abstract

The results of small business operations play a significant economic role in developed economies, yet in the United States, approximately 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years of operation. Some small business owners embark on small business initiatives without the cash management strategies necessary to sustain their businesses. Grounded on financial literacy theory, this multiple-case study identified the strategies that owners of small businesses used to manage cash in their daily operations. The population included 3 owners of small tavern business in southeast Alaska who have implemented cash management strategies. Data were collected from semistructured interviews, supplementary documentation, and reflective journal notes. Data were analyzed using methodological triangulation, coding, and thematic analysis. Three themes emerged from data analysis: cash management capabilities, internal controls and employee accountability, and cash management opportunities. The findings of this study may contribute to positive social change by improving the ability of leaders of small businesses to increase job availability and contribute to economic stability in communities, thereby improving local and regional economies and enhancing the standard of living for individuals and households.

# Cash Management Strategies to Improve the Sustainability of Small Tavern Businesses

by

# Maren Michelle Haavig

MBA, University of Alaska Southeast, 2012 BBA, University of Alaska Southeast, 1999 BA, Western Washington University, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

### Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my husband, Mark Neidhold, for his extraordinary patience, love, and encouragement in helping me achieve this goal. I also dedicate this study to the memory of my late parents, Neland and Joyce Haavig. They were with me when I started this journey, and while I regret that they did not have the opportunity to see my finish, their encouragement and pride in me was invaluable.

# Acknowledgments

I want to thank my committee chair, Dr. Mary Dereshiwsky, for her generous support, availability, and encouragement. You kept me going through the doctoral process, especially during challenging times. Thank you, Dr. Roger Mayer (second committee member), and Dr. Janet Booker (URR member) for their motivation, and their timely and insightful feedback on my study.

I would also like to thank Dr. Greg Banks and other Walden University instructors, advisors, classmates, librarians, and staff who contributed to the successful completion of this study. Last, but certainly not least, thank you to all the small business owners who took time out of their busy schedule to participate in this study. I could not have completed my doctoral study without you.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Financial Literacy Theory	11
Alternative Conceptual Frameworks Considered	17
Principles of Cash Management	19
Cash Collection: Increasing the Speed of Receivables Collection	21

	Cash Disbursement: Monitoring the Payment of Liabilities	22
	Working Capital Management	24
	Financing Liabilities and Major Expenditures	30
	Internal Controls to Safeguard Cash	33
	Cash Budgets to Support Business Decisions	38
	Computerized Accounting Systems	42
	Summary and Transition	45
Se	ection 2: The Project	46
	Purpose Statement	46
	Role of the Researcher	46
	Participants	49
	Research Method and Design	51
	Research Method	51
	Research Design	53
	Population and Sampling	55
	Ethical Research	57
	Data Collection Instruments	59
	Data Collection Technique	62
	Data Organization Techniques	65
	Data Analysis	66
	Reliability and Validity	69
	Reliability	69

Validity	70
Summary and Transition	73
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	74
Introduction	74
Presentation of the Findings	75
Theme 1: Cash Management Capabilities	75
Theme 2: Internal Controls and Employee Accountability	78
Theme 3: Cash Management Opportunities	81
Applications to Professional Practice	84
Implications for Social Change	85
Recommendations for Action	86
Recommendations for Further Research	88
Reflections	89
Conclusion	90
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	121
Annandiy P. Interview Questions	122

# List of Tables

Table 1: Participant Demographics	75
Table 2: Financial Statement Ratios	83

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Researchers have found that business leaders who have not developed effective cash management strategies are at risk of experiencing liquidity and performance problems, including bankruptcy (Prasad, 2017). Within the conceptual framework of financial literacy theory, I sought to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. I focused on small tavern owners located in Southeast Alaska who have implemented cash management strategies.

#### **Background of the Problem**

According to Statistics of U.S. Businesses and Nonemployer Statistics (as cited in U.S. Small Business Administration [SBA], 2017), there are 29.6 million small businesses in the United States. Despite the significance of small business to the national economy, researchers have conducted a limited amount of empirical research to understand how small business owners conduct cash management activities (Mazzarol, 2014). Given the importance of small business to the national economy, the study of cash management strategies is necessary to improve small business owners' ability to grow sustainable businesses that contribute to the well-being of local economies.

The underlying processes of cash management include liquidity management, accelerating collections, maximizing investment earnings; supporting accurate financial reporting, and forging strong banking relationships (Modlin, 2014). If these processes are ineffective, small business owners may find themselves limited in their ability to build cash reserves, remain solvent, and manage day-to-day operations effectively (Nobanee &

Abraham, 2015). A small business owner must possess proper cash management strategies to ensure that adequate cash is available to meet obligations as they come due and to invest excess cash to maximize investment returns (Prasad, 2017).

Some small business owners realize the importance of effective cash management activities to run small businesses successfully; however, many small business owners lack the knowledge or time to conduct cash management activities (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014; Prasad, 2017) or the ability to develop formal processes to manage cash (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015). As a result, these small business owners are at risk of experiencing liquidity and performance problems, including bankruptcy (Jamil, Al Ani, & Al Shubiri, 2015).

#### **Problem Statement**

Small business owners who fail to implement cash management strategies risk experiencing liquidity and performance problems (Prasad, 2017). The results of small business operations play significant economic role in developed economies (Karadağ, 2015), yet in the United States, approximately 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years of operation (SBA, 2017). The general business problem is that some small business owners embark on small business initiatives without adequate financial literacy, making it difficult for them to take full advantage of cash management strategies. The specific business problem is that some small business tavern owners lack cash management strategies necessary to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple-case study was to explore the cash management strategies that some small business tavern owners used to sustain their business beyond 5 years. The targeted population consisted of owners of three small taverns in Southeast Alaska. The implications for positive social change included the potential to provide aspiring small business owners with new insights into viable cash management strategies, thus placing them in an improved position to realize economic success. The results of this study could help small business owners avoid business failure and achieve sustainability, potentially creating and sustaining jobs to enhance the standard of living of other citizens in their communities.

# **Nature of the Study**

In this study, I used a qualitative research method. Researchers choose among three research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Yin, 2018). The quantitative method is appropriate when the objective is to formulate a hypothesis and test for relationships or differences among variables (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). A mixed method researcher includes both quantitative and qualitative methods (Snelson, 2016). I did not formulate a hypothesis or test for correlations or differences among variables; therefore, neither quantitative nor mixed method approaches were appropriate for this study. Researchers use qualitative methods to gather in-depth data, discover the meaning of the unknown, and reconstruct the stories of participants on a conceptual level (Denzin & Lincoln, 2017). The qualitative method is appropriate for this study because I explored

what cash management strategies small business tavern owners used to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years.

I considered using three research designs for this study: (a) ethnographic study, (b) phenomenological study, and (c) case study. In an ethnographic design, the researcher focuses on a culture-sharing group to prepare a detailed, accurate description of their shared knowledge and experiences (Letourneau, 2015; Reich, 2015). Since I did not spend extended periods with small business tavern owners, this method was not appropriate. I also considered a phenomenological design, which is used to explore the lived experiences of participants (Berglund, 2015). Because I did not focus on the meaning of small business tavern owners' shared experiences, this method was not appropriate. Case study designs are appropriate for exploring the what, how, and why of a real-life problem within a bounded system (Babbie, 2016). Researchers analyze multiple layers of data within a case study by including various sources and types of information, including observation, in-depth interviews, and document analysis, and then discuss the results by identifying themes (Babbie, 2016). I incorporated case study design techniques, including semistructured interviews and financial document review. I collected data for this study by interviewing two small business tavern owners in their place of business, and one over the telephone, to identify themes of cash management strategies. Therefore, the case study design was appropriate for this research topic.

#### **Research Question**

The overarching research question that guided this study was as follows: What

cash management strategies do some small business tavern owners use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years?

### **Interview Questions**

The objective of this study was to explore the cash management strategies some small tavern business owners use to sustain their business. To reach this objective, I asked participants the following questions:

- 1. What cash management strategies do you use now to run your business?
- 2. What were the key challenges you encountered to implementing your cash management strategies?
- 3. How did you address those key challenges to implementing your cash management strategies?
- 4. How do you assess the effectiveness of your cash management strategies?
- 5. What methods of internal control strategies do you use to safeguard cash?
- 6. How do you use bank accounts, bank statements, and reconciliations to monitor cash?
- 7. How do you manage payments to employees, vendors and creditors?
- 8. How, if at all, do you use credit cards to pay business expenses?
- 9. How do you use cash budgets to make business decisions?
- 10. How do you manage excess cash from operations?
- 11. What additional information can you provide about the cash management strategies you use to sustain your business?

### **Conceptual Framework**

Financial literacy is one's ability to process economic information to make informed financial decisions (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). The conceptual framework for this study was financial literacy theory as developed by Bernheim in 1995. Bernheim initially explored financial literacy theory by studying adults who failed to link low levels of household savings to economic vulnerabilities. Financial literacy is an essential skill for small business owners because it is inextricably linked to wealth accumulation and economic growth (Belle Isle, Freudenberg, & Sarker, 2018; Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). Therefore, a small business owner's level of financial literacy can affect his or her business sustainability. Moreover, there is a strong correlation between financial literacy and day-to-day financial management (Belle Isle et al., 2018; Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). However, business and management training are uncommon amongst many small business owners, and this lack of financial literacy can further translate to financial problems and increased difficulty in understanding and managing financial processes, including money, credit and debt management, and budgeting (Siekei, Wagoki, & Kalio, 2013). Belle Isle, Freudenberg, and Sarker (2018) and Lusardi and Mitchell (2014) proposed that financial literacy informs better decision-making and wealth accumulation. Therefore, as applied to this study, I expected a small business owner's financial literacy to inform the development of cash management strategies and result in sustainability beyond 5 years.

#### **Operational Definitions**

The purpose of this study was to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years through the lens of financial literacy theory. Because some readers might not be familiar with the topic's terminology, I offer the following definitions:

Cash budget: A cash budget represents a business owner's expectation of cash inflows and outflows from all sources and uses for a defined period (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014).

Cash management: The management of cash collection, concentration, and disbursement including ensuring sufficient level of liquidity, maintaining positive cash balances, and efficient use of short-term investment (Prasad, 2017).

*Small business:* The U.S. Small Business Administration defines a small business as an independently owned entity that employs fewer than 500 employees (SBA, 2017).

#### **Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations**

A researcher should be aware of the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations inherent in her study. In the following subsections, I explain each of these elements and give examples from this study.

## **Assumptions**

An assumption is an item or fact considered as true but not easily verified by the researcher (Nkwake & Morrow, 2016). Researchers should identify assumptions unique to a study to achieve optimum design and aid them in understanding how their assumptions may influence them when interpreting findings and results (Leedy &

Ormrod, 2018). I identified two assumptions relevant to this study. This first was that each participant responded with truthful answers. The second is that each participant may have feared a lack of confidentiality. To mitigate this fear, each participant completed a consent form, which stated that any information provided was confidential.

#### Limitations

A study limitation is a potential weakness over which the researcher has no control (Denzin & Lincoln, 2017). The first limitation of this study was that I utilized a case study design to study the business problem. A case study researcher focuses on one entity (person or group) and, consequently, does not identify causal relationships generalizable to a broader population (Yin, 2018). Consequently, the reliance on case study limited my ability to generalize findings to a broader small business owner community. Another limitation of this study was the impact technology may have on cash management practices. As a result, future technological advancements in the areas of cash management could limit the value of the findings and conclusions identified in this study.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations represent choices made by the researcher about characteristics and elements to either include or exclude in order to bound or define the scope of the study (Yin, 2018). This case study included interviews of three small tavern owners who employed 20 or fewer employees. The data collected from interviews with these small business owners and a review of business documents might not support results and conclusions regarding larger small businesses.

All participants were located in Southeast Alaska, which bounded the geographical focus area of the study. By focusing on one geographic region, it may be difficult to generalize the results of the case study to small businesses operating outside of this region. A time requirement further bound each interview. I conducted the interviews within one hour. This time bounding could have limited the information provided to me by the participant.

# **Significance of the Study**

There are 29.6 million small businesses in the United States (SBA, 2017). Despite the significance of small business to the national economy, researchers have conducted a limited amount of empirical research to understand how small business owners conduct cash management activities (Mazzarol, 2014). Given the importance of small business to the national economy, the study of cash management strategies is necessary to improve small business owners' ability to grow sustainable businesses that contribute to the well-being of local economies.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

Small business owners can benefit from the results of this study to improve business performance by leveraging cash management tools to make better managerial decisions. Understanding cash management processes, including the proper timing of cash receipts, disbursements, and investments, facilitates a business leader's ability to forecast cash needs (Modlin, 2014). If these processes are ineffective, small business owners could find themselves with limited ability to build cash reserves, remain solvent, and manage day-to-day operations effectively (Modlin, 2014). Furthermore, by

recognizing the need for and process for developing effective cash management strategies that small business owners use to sustain their business, industry association leaders can develop approaches for providing their members with resources for better understanding cash management strategies, processes, and tools.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

Society could benefit from the positive impact that results when small business owners make better managerial decisions based on sustainable cash management strategies. By understanding what cash management strategies some successful small business owners use to manage their businesses, other small business owners may be in a better position to realize economic success. Other benefits could extend beyond the small business including increased job creation, improved local and regional economies, and enhanced standard of living for individuals and households within those localities and regions.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This review of professional and academic literature focused on writings related to the small business tavern owner's knowledge of cash management strategies that pertained to the research question: What cash management strategies do small business tavern owners use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. I searched numerous databases including Google Scholar, EBSCOhost, ProQuest, ProQuest Accounting and Tax, Emerald Management Journals, along with government websites and databases. In conducting the searches, I used the following keywords: *small business, small business owners, small business leaders, accounting, cash, cash management, cash budgets,* 

working capital, internal control, small- and medium-sized enterprises, qualitative research, case study, financial literacy, and skill-based model of leadership. This study includes 198 references, of which 182 (92%) are peer reviewed and 176 (89%) were published within 5 years (2015 or later) of approval of the Chief Academic Officer. The literature review begins with an overview of the conceptual framework selected for the study.

### **Financial Literacy Theory**

Lusardi and Mitchell (2014) defined financial literacy as one's ability process economic information to make informed financial decisions. Bernheim (1995) initially explored financial literacy theory by studying adults who failed to link low levels of household savings to economic vulnerabilities. Other researchers contributed to the body of financial literacy knowledge by offering that financially literate individuals have developed a positive relationship with money, understand banking practices, credit and debt, and made future financial plans (Vitt et al., 2000). Routinely, financial literacy researchers associate financial knowledge with improved economic decision-making and ability to generate wealth (Lusardi, Michaud, & Mitchell, 2017a, Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014; Lusardi & Tufano, 2015).

In his seminal research into financial literacy, Bernheim found that an individual's lack of financial literacy in the face of increasingly complex financial products puts them in financially vulnerable positions (Lusardi et al., 2017a). Within today's national and global economy, there is an increasing number of complex financial options, yet most individuals are not equipped to understand how these choices work (Drexler, Fischer, &

Schoar, 2014; Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014; Lusardi & Tufano, 2015; Sukumaran, 2015). As a result, individuals are placed in a burdened situation to make well-informed investing, saving, and borrowing choices among a vast array of intricate financial products that they may not understand (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014; Sukumaran, 2015). Small business owners who lack financial literacy are more likely to maintain poor accounting records and financial statements and find it difficult to obtain lines of credit (Siekei et al., 2013).

To gain an understanding of how a person's financial literacy influences the outcome of economic decisions, researchers investigated financial literacy through the lens of financial knowledge, behavioral finance, and investment and financing ability (Lusardi et al., 2017a; Sukumaran, 2015). Focusing on these lenses, researchers determined that individuals who lacked financial literacy had difficulty saving for the future (Lusardi et al., 2017a; Lusardi & Tufano, 2015; Sukumaran, 2015), generating wealth (Lusardi et al., 2017a; Lusardi et al., 2017b; Sukumaran, 2015), incurred higher costs of borrowing and earned lower rates of return on investments (Lusardi et al., 2017a; Lusardi et al., 2017b; Lusardi & Tufano, 2015; Sukumaran, 2015).

Other researchers investigated financial literacy by breaking it down into financial knowledge (ability) and financial confidence. Tokar Asaad (2015) analyzed survey data obtained from the 2012 National Financial Capability Study that captured responses to questions designed to measure financial knowledge or confidence. Her results were consistent with those of prior researchers (Eniola & Entebang, 2017) that high financial knowledge and high financial confidence yields improved financial behavior. However, she also found that low knowledge and high confidence resulted in risky financial

behavior (Tokar Asaad, 2015). This researcher's results join a body of evidence that low financial literacy is detrimental to one's economic wellbeing and brings to light that financial overconfidence can exacerbate these effects (Hoque, 2017).

While studying Italian SMEs, Invernizzi, Menozzi, Passarani, Patton, and Viglia (2016) had similar findings. Their research focused on overconfidence as determined by a comparison of SME leaders' projected and actual amounts in three categories: earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, equity, and borrowing costs (Invernizzi, Menozzi, Passarani, Patton, & Viglia, 2016). Among their sample, they found overconfidence exhibited by 85% of respondents and a significant relationship between overconfidence and business failure (Invernizzi et al., 2016). In further analysis, Invernizzi et al. (2016) found that higher levels of education among respondents and their use of accounting or budgetary controls systems minimized the differences between actual and predicted financial outcomes.

Complementing research focused on financial illiteracy; researchers found that financially literate individuals make better financial decisions resulting in improved wealth accumulation and overall well-being (Drexler et al., 2014; Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). Small business leaders who possess financial literacy tend to excel in financial activities including paying bills on time and making informed choices among financial products such as bank accounts and financing options (Siekei et al., 2013). Other benefits of financial literacy accrue beyond small business owners and their communities. Citizens within the jurisdiction of a taxing authority enjoy the advantage of small business owners increased tax compliance as a result of tax law literacy (Mohamad,

Zakaria, & Hamid, 2016). Financially literate small business owners are less reliant on social programs and better able to utilize financial services to sustain their businesses and contribute to the social and economic development of their communities (Sukumaran, 2015).

Australian researchers utilized a survey tool and semi-structured interviews to study small business expert's opinions and perceptions towards small business owners' financial, computerized accounting software, and business tax literacy (Belle Isle et al., 2018). Regarding financial literacy, the researchers focused on small business owners' understanding of financial statements and cash flow management. The majority of experts held that an owner's level of financial literacy impacted their ability to effectively manage cash (Belle Isle et al., 2018). Further, these experts expressed concerns that a small business owners' limited financial literacy could negatively impact their ability understand financial statements, communicate effectively with external stakeholders, identify cash problems early, and make informed business decisions (Belle Isle et al., 2018).

Training programs can improve financial literacy among small business owners, which in turn improves decision-making and financial performance. Lusardi et al. (2017b) studied the effectiveness of various tools designed to improve an individual's financial literacy and determined all methods improved financial literacy. Kenyan SME owners received financial literacy training that focused on bookkeeping, credit management, and budgeting. Following the training, these owners reported increased ability to prepare and analyze cash flow, income, and balance sheet statements (Siekei et

al., 2013). These abilities improved business decision-making among participants, and fewer companies reported revenues in a lower bracket, 45.2% down to 19.2%, and more companies reported revenues in a higher bracket 20.6% up to 37% (Siekei et al., 2013).

In Peru, credit borrowers received training on cash management, business selection, and marketing that enabled them to earn greater profits (Sukumaran, 2015). Similarly, Drexler, Fischer, and Schoar (2014) studied the effect of rule-of-thumb accounting training had on Dominican micro-entrepreneur's knowledge of finance and financial accounting. After receiving the training, participants began keeping accounting records, and they showed improvement in both calculating and reporting financial data (Drexler et al., 2014). In Malaysia, Ahmad, Ahmad, and Abdullah (2018) similarly found that the acquisition of accounting skills and financial management training by small business owners had a positive influence on their cash management practices and business sustainability. These studies support the premise of financial literacy theory that acquiring financial knowledge can improve business performance.

Outside of the business realm, Brown, Grigsby, van der Klaauw, Wen, and Zafar (2016) focused on the effects of financial education of young Americans, a population known to overly rely on debt. The researchers assessed the impacts of mathematics, financial literacy, and economics courses required by state education authorities on debt behavior and financial literacy. They found that within the 10-year period after graduation, students exposed to mathematics and financial literacy education demonstrated improved repayment behavior and increased debt savvy; however, these effects diminished over time. The effects of economics education did not yield the same

results and in fact, the researchers found increased levels of outstanding debts, and delinquency and bankruptcy. This outcome suggested differences among the financial education methods hinged on the practical content of mathematics and financial literacy versus the more abstract content of economics courses. Cole, Paulson, and Shastry (2016) also found that individuals exposed to additional state-mandated mathematics courses experience improved financial outcomes; however, their research did not confirm similar improvements related to personal finance education.

Financial literacy is an essential skill to be successful in today's economy (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). Therefore, a small business leader's level of financial literacy can affect their businesses sustainability. Moreover, there is a strong correlation between financial literacy and day-to-day financial management (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). A small business owner's lack of financial literacy can further translate to financial problems and increased difficulty in understanding and managing financial processes including cash, credit and debt management, and budgeting.

In this study, the underlying practices of financial literacy theory in a small tavern business centered on the cash management practices related to working capital management and the cash conversion cycle. Furthermore, a small business owner's ability to budget cash needs and utilize internal controls to safeguard cash influences the efficiency of both. Therefore, I expected a small business tavern leader's financial literacy to inform the development of cash management strategies to result in small business sustainability beyond 5 years.

#### **Alternative Conceptual Frameworks Considered**

Related to financial literacy theory is the skills model of leadership. Building upon Katz's 1955 theory of the three-skill approach, Mumford, Marks, Connelly, Zaccaro, & Reiter-Palmon (2000) developed the skills model of leadership (skills model). The researchers identified three main components underlying the skills model including individual attributes and competencies, and leadership outcomes.

Delving more deeply into the skills model, Mumford et al. (2000) described the individual competencies of problem-solving skills, social judgment skills, and knowledge, to be the key factors that drive leadership outcomes (i.e., effective problem solving and performance). They described problem solving as a leader's ability to formulate creative solutions to an ill-defined problem, often within short time periods without the benefit of counsel from others. In addition, leaders must possess social judgment skills, such as the capacity to understand people and social systems, to enhance their ability to work effectively with others while working on complex organizational problems. The final competency is knowledge described as a leader's ability to obtain information and subsequently organize into mental structures or schemes. Within the skills model, the researchers conceptualized an understanding of leader performance by considering the competency requirements and their development and expression over time. I focused on a participant's cash management strategies (knowledge competency) and subsequent decision-making (problem-solving competency) however; I did not study a participant's social judgment skills. Therefore, this theory of leadership performance is not appropriate for this study.

I also considered other theories when exploring the contextual framework for this study including transformational and transactional leadership theories. Burns (1978) developed the transformational leadership theory to describe a model where leaders emphasize follower needs, values, and morals. In this manner, transformational leadership results in mutual support between leader and follower, and positive attitudes towards organizational goals (Burns, 1978).

Bass (1985) expanded on transformational leadership theory by defining further four underlying components: inspirational motivation, idealized influence, individualized consideration, and intellectual stimulation. Bass (1985) suggested that transformational leaders used inspirational motivation to inspire followers to join and commit to a shared vision for the future and described idealized influence as a strong leader role models that possessed attributional components that followers sought to emulate. Leaders listened to followers needs and implored individualized consideration to create a supportive climate (Bass, 1985). The last factor, intellectual stimulation, involves a transformational leader's encouragement of creativity and innovation among followers (Bass, 1985).

Burns (1978) held that transactional leadership involved an exchange of resources with economic, political, or psychological value between leaders and followers. The basis for the exchange involved the leader detailing both the performance requirements the follower must meet and the payment conditions (Burns, 1978). Two leadership aspects relate to transactional leadership, contingent reward, and management-by-exception. Within contingent rewards, the leader rewards a follower's effort and, typically, leaders and followers agree in advance about the work performed and the payoff award (Bass,

1985). Management-by-exception leadership leveraged corrective criticism, negative feedback, and negative reinforcement to control followers (Bass, 1985). This leadership activity may take either an active or passive reinforcement form. In an active form, leaders monitor follower output, identifies errors, and take immediate corrective action (Bass, 1985). In a passive form, the leader chooses to wait until a formal evaluation period before disclosing observed shortfalls in the follower's performance (Bass, 1985).

The purpose of this study was to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners used to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Both the transformational and transactional leadership theories focus on how leaders interact with and influence followers within an organization. I did not focus on small business tavern leader's leadership skills but rather the cash management strategies they applied to maintain business sustainability. Given the strong emphasis on leader/follower interaction, I found neither transformational nor transactional theory suitable for this study.

### **Principles of Cash Management**

Cash management is the term used to describe the activities within the business cycle whereby business leaders receive, concentrate, and disburse cash, check, and credit card payments (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). According to Modlin (2014), the objectives of cash management policies include liquidity management; accelerating collections; maximizing investment earnings; supporting accurate financial reporting; and forging strong banking relationships. If these processes break down, small business owners may find themselves limited in their ability to build cash reserves, remain solvent,

and effectively manage day-to-day operations (Modlin, 2014; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). Conversely, small business owners who conducted efficient cash management activities experienced improved financial performance (Karadağ, 2018).

It is not sufficient for a business owner to know only obligation due dates and short-term investment options to maximize cash management techniques (Cook & Wolverton, 2015; Prasad, 2017). A small business owner must possess proper cash management strategies to ensure that adequate cash is available to meet obligations as they come due and to invest excess cash to maximize investment returns (Prasad, 2017). Some small business owners realize the importance of effective cash management activities to run small businesses successfully (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014; Prasad, 2017). However, some small business owners lacked the knowledge or time to conduct cash management activities (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014; Prasad, 2017) or the ability to develop formal processes to manage cash (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015).

A positive relationship exists between cash management and liquidity (Danjuma, Umar, & Hammawa, 2015). Problems related to poor cash management can manifest in various forms. Business leaders who have not developed effective cash management strategies are at risk of experiencing liquidity and performance problems, including bankruptcy (Jamil et al., 2015; Mungal & Garbharran, 2014; Prasad, 2017). Leaders of businesses with low cash reserves had difficulties borrowing money from creditors or attracting and maintaining skilled employees, and found themselves with no margin of safety if unforeseen problems arose (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). In the following sections, I will discuss the elements of cash management

including cash collections and disbursements, working capital management, internal controls to safeguard cash, and cash budgets. I will also discuss the small business leader's use of a computerized accounting system to manage cash.

## **Cash Collection: Increasing the Speed of Receivables Collection**

In the business world, cash includes physical paper or coin currency, and monies deposited in bank accountings (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014; Prasad, 2017). Cash payments come from customers for the sale of good and services, and cash uses including paying vendors, employees, and creditors (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). By decreasing transaction time to collect cash, a small business owner can maximize the length of time to invest cash and provide adequate cash levels to pay vendors on time (Danjuma et al., 2015; Modlin, 2014). Further, Australian small business experts indicate that a small business owners' level of financial literacy influences their ability to manage debt collection and the impact of those practices on cash flow (Belle Isle et al., 2018).

A primary goal of a small business owners' cash management strategy is to increase the length of time they hold onto cash. Researchers in various countries have found that business owners can improve their financial performance with effective receivables management. Danjuma, Umar, and Hammawa (2015) found that profitability improved when small business owners decreased the amount of time taken to receive payments from customers. In a study focused on Turkish SMEs, Karadağ (2018) established that effective receivables management associated positively with financial performance.

Identifying and monitoring debtors is a crucial factor when managing accounts receivable. In their study, Wolmarans and Meintjes (2015) surveyed successful SMEs leaders in South Africa. The respondents in their study reported that the financial practice they performed the most was preparing a list of debtors (Wolmarans & Meintjes, 2015).

The type of industry influences whether a business leader deals mostly with credit or cash sales from customers (Mun & Jang, 2015). The U.S. Internal Revenue Service (2010) classified a business as cash-intensive if the owner receives a significant amount of receipts in cash and records a high volume of small dollar amount sales transactions. A tavern owner typically receives payment from the customer at the time of service, which results in an immediate collection and reduces the need for significant accounts receivable management.

## **Cash Disbursement: Monitoring the Payment of Liabilities**

A small business owner's effective management of the accounts payable processes can result in lower costs and improved operational efficiencies from automated payment. Australian small business experts indicated that a small business owners' level of financial literacy influenced their ability to manage debt payments and the impact of those practices on cash flow (Belle Isle et al., 2018). In their study of the relationship between supplier practices and elements of the cash conversion cycle, Pavlis, Moschuris, and Laios (2018) found that businesses who worked with flexible and collaborative suppliers realized increased days of payables or the amount of days available to pay an outstanding bill. The importance of monitoring payments was also evident in India where finance officers and managers viewed making payments in a timely manner and

maintaining emergency liquid reserves among their top three choices to approach cash management (Baker, Kumar, Colombage, and Singh, 2017). Identifying and monitoring creditors is a key factor when managing accounts payable. Successful SMEs leaders in South Africa reported that preparing a list of creditors was second among the top five most performed financial practices (Wolmarans & Meintjes 2015).

Danjuma et al. (2015) found that profitability improved when small business owners took full advantage of the time allowed to pay vendors. To increase the amount of time they hold onto cash, small business owners can utilize payment strategies to optimize management of accounts payable. Electronic payment tools such as Fedwire, bill pay services offered by banks, and the Automated Clearinghouse System can improve the efficiency of cash collections and disbursements, thus improving cash hold time (Modlin, 2014). These cost-effective tools can save small business owners time when collecting payments from customers and sending payments to vendors (Modlin, 2014). In their review of Canadian small and medium enterprises (SMEs), Bahri, St-Pierre, and Sakka (2017) found that electronic data interchange systems improved SME's connections to vendors and their ability to take advantage of supplier discounts for prompt payment. Embracing cashless payment options does require a level of trust and secure technology among business owners to process their electronic transactions without error or unwanted interference (Chattopadhyay, Gulati, & Bose, 2018).

Small business owners should consider negotiating payment terms to incentivize their accounts payable owners to allow preferable payment methods. Jorgensen (2016) recommended that small business owners pay first those vendors who offered early

payment discounts followed by vendors who allowed electronic payment methods including credit cards. This practice can be easily enacted given that a small business leader's financial institution likely has bill pay services available to facilitate accounts payable management (Jorgensen, 2016). Last on the payment hierarchy would be to pay vendors who only accepted check payments since this method is manual and time-consuming (Jorgensen, 2016).

Similar to the advice from Jorgensen (2016) noted above, Indian managers cite the use of credit cards to delay the payment of accounts payable (Baker et al., 2017). However, in their work focused on financial literacy, Lusardi and Tufano (2015) found that only one-third of study respondents understand concepts of interest compounding or the underlying workings of credit cards. Small business owners who are less knowledge about credit card usage rules may incur charges and fees while using them to settle accounts payable (Lusardi & Tufano, 2015). In the two sections above, I discussed the management of cash receipts and the disbursement of cash through the payment of liabilities. In the next section, I discuss another area of cash management: working capital management, defined as current assets minus current liabilities.

#### **Working Capital Management**

Working capital is a measurement of liquidity as defined by current assets minus current liabilities (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Iqbal & Zhuquan, 2015) and is essential for small business owners because most of their business assets and liabilities are current rather than long-term (Afrifa, 2016). As a result, working capital is a reflection of a small business owners cash management decisions about how much cash

to maintain on hand, invest in inventory and other prepaid expenses, the deferment of cash collections through accounts receivable policies, and the timing of cash outflows through accounts payable rules (Salas-Molina, Martin, Rodriguez-Aguilar, Serra, & Arcos, 2017).

The proper management of current assets and current liabilities helps small business owners ensure that sufficient amounts of cash are available to sustain business operations (Şamiloğlu & Akgün, 2016), pay obligations on time and maximize the investment of excess cash (Mun & Jang, 2015). Belle Isle and Freudenberg (2015) found that Australian business leaders were more concerned with the timing of cash receipts and due dates of liabilities than business taxes and competition. To better understand financial practice utilization, Wolmarans and Meintjes (2015) surveyed successful SMEs leaders in South Africa. Among the top five financial practices that respondents performed, four related to working capital topics and cash flow skills.

Managing working capital and liquidity is a significant challenge facing small business owners (Nobanee & Abraham, 2015; Mazzarol, 2014) and effective working capital management is as vital to long-term success as effective operations (Iqbal & Zhuquan, 2015; Mun & Jang, 2015; Tran, Abbott, & Yap, 2017). Small business owners should understand how to manage working capital to maintain business liquidity and profitability, both of which are vital to business sustainability (Jamil et al., 2015; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). Leaders who manage working capital strategically find it to be a competitive advantage (Baker et al., 2017; Jamil et al., 2015), experience financial flexibility and an improved ability to respond to economic changes (Afrifa & Padachi,

2016; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015; Pais & Gama, 2015), and realized improved profitability (Iqbal & Zhuquan, 2015).

Based on these insights, one would expect that small business owners would strive to engage in working capital management activities to improve business performance. Business factors such as age and size and individual factors including an individuals' perceived usefulness and attitude explain why small business owners participate in certain working capital management routines (Orobia, Padachi, & Munene, 2016). In a study of small business owners in Uganda, researchers found that business size and the small business owners' perceived usefulness of and attitude toward a task had a significant effect on whether they would conduct a working capital management routine (Orobia et al., 2016). Specifically, the larger the size of the business and the more an owner perceived that a task would be useful and held a positive attitude towards it, the more likely they were to take up the working capital routine (Orobia et al., 2016). Conversely, business age, education level and whether the small business owner received financial management training did not have a significant influence on participation in working capital management practices (Orobia et al., 2016). The researchers did acknowledge that in Uganda, the financial management training received is theoretic and might not be easily applied to the small business setting (Orobia et al., 2016). Afrifa (2016) provided evidence from a study of cross-industry sample of SMEs in the U.K. that the availability of cash flow influenced an owner's ability to invest in working capital.

Researchers have also studied sub-optimal working capital systems and the effects on profitability. Business leaders may choose to manage working capital aggressively by

maintaining low levels of current assets including cash and inventory, and limited credit extended to customers (Martínez-Sola, García-Teruel, & Martínez-Solano, 2018; Pais & Gama, 2015). However, the results of this strategy may include shortages of cash and inventory, both of which negatively affect liquidity, loss of customers who are denied credit, and profitability (Jamil et al., 2015; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015; Pais & Gama, 2015). Other researchers found that insufficient working capital to be a reason for business failure in developed and developing countries (Baker et al., 2017; Jamil et al., 2015; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015).

Business leaders who choose a more conservative method to manage working capital would maintain higher levels of cash and inventory, and extend generous credit policies to customers (Martínez-Sola et al., 2018; Pais & Gama, 2015). This approach counters the adverse outcomes of an aggressive working capital policy noted above (Jamil et al., 2015; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). However, some researchers determined that maintaining excess current assets increased inventory carrying costs and bad debt expense, which resulted in lower profitability (Afrifa & Padachi, 2016; Jamil et al., 2015; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). Similarly, Tran, Abbott, and Yap (2017) found that when Vietnamese small business owners invested cash in maintaining high volumes of inventory, their businesses' profitability decreased (Tran et al., 2017). Small business owners who possess financial literacy may be better equipped to determine the right balance between aggressive and conservative working capital strategies to support business sustainability.

Complementing how small business owners manage working capital management is how they manage the cash conversion cycle. Various researchers have focused on the cash conversion cycle as a more dynamic measure of working capital (Jamil et al., 2015; Mun & Jang, 2015; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). The cash conversion cycle is a measure of the number of days between firm personnel purchasing inventory and receiving final payment from customers (accounts receivable), less the number of days payable outstanding (accounts payable) (Pavlis, Moschuris, & Laios, 2018; Zeidan & Sahpir 2017). When small business owners allow excessive balances in either account by failing to collect or make a payment, these account balances influenced the balance of working capital (Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). Moreover, the longer the cash conversion cycle, the more time small business owners wait to recover cash spent on raw materials and inventory (Pavlis et al., 2018).

Baker et al. (2017) suggested that leaders view the cash conversion cycle as a compressed measure of working capital management and a useful tool to monitor the working capital of their company. Small business owners should also be familiar with concepts of working capital management and cash conversion cycles within their particular industry (Mazzarol, 2014; Mun & Jang, 2015). Nobanee and Abraham (2015) studied the cash conversion cycles of non-financial firms listed in the New York Stock Exchange, American Stock Exchange, NASDAQ Stock Market, and Over the Counter Markets. As measured in days, the researchers found that the average cycle for all firms was 66.71 days with large firms experiencing 61.92 days, medium firms 76.98 days, and small firms, 59.58 days (Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). The researchers further posited that

the decreased cycle time is illustrative of a small business leader's need to minimize the time between the purchase of inventory and receipt of customer payments, which is exacerbated by a lack of access to external financing (Nobanee & Abraham, 2015).

When studying small business cash management influence on profitability and liquidity, researcher use the cash conversion cycle as a proxy for working capital. While operating a small business, owners make choices about how much cash to spend on inventory and how long to defer cash payments from customers which, in turn, impacts the amount of cash available to pay current liabilities (Tran et al., 2017). The following examples illustrate the positive effects of effective cash conversion cycle management on profitability.

In their study, Lyngstadaas and Berg (2016) focused on the relationship between cash conversional cycle, used as a proxy for working capital, and profitability among Norwegian small- and medium- sized companies. The researchers used return on assets (ROA) as a measure of profitability and calculated cash conversion cycle as the sum of days in inventory, days in receivable, and days in accounts payable (Lyngstadaas and Berg, 2016). They found that decreasing the time of the cash conversion cycle led to a statistically significant improvement in profitability as measured by ROA (Lyngstadaas and Berg, 2016). Likewise, Tran et al. (2017), and Pais and Gama (2015) found a negative relationship between the cash conversion cycle and profitability meaning that the longer the cash conversion cycle, the lower a firm's profitability and vice versa.

As described in this section, researchers have contributed to the body of evidence that effective working capital management supports a small business leader's ability to

achieve business sustainability. In the next section, I will discuss another element of cash management: financing liabilities and major expenditures.

# **Financing Liabilities and Major Expenditures**

Another area of cash management involves financing to cover short- and long-term liabilities or financing capital expansion projects (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Tsuruta, 2016). Researchers have found that business size influenced how managers approach financing major expenditures (Chittenden & Derregia, 2015). Owners of small firms have less access to capital markets and rely on their own personal assets, trade credit, or short-term bank loans for financing while managers of larger firms can access larger, less expensive capital markets (Karadağ, 2015; Martínez-Sola et al., 2018; Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). In a study of 120 credit unions that, between 2007 and 2014, loaned 10% or more of their assets to businesses, Walker (2016) found that these financial institutions increased their share of small business loans by 39.2%. However, during this same period, community banks investment in small business loans decreased by 5.6% (Walker, 2016).

Some researchers found that bank and lending institution managers ration the amount of credit available to small business owners, downsize the loan (loan an amount less than the original request), or charge higher interest rates on businesses experiencing or expressing plans for growth (Martínez-Sola et al., 2018; Nafees, Ahmad, & Rasheed, 2017; Rostamkalaei & Freel, 2016). As a result, small business owners rely on internal sources of funds including personal assets or business retained earnings, which can result in barriers to growth and sustainability (Nafees et al., 2017; Rostamkalaei & Freel, 2016).

Small business owners face other negative financing issues including higher interest rates, less favorable loan terms and conditions, and stricter conditions to qualify for the loan (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Chittenden & Derregia, 2015). These factors make small business financing expensive and limited the ability of small business owners to be competitive and plan for capital expenditures (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015). When small business owners have fewer financing options, they find it more difficult to maintain stable cash flows and liquidity (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Nafees et al., 2017). Moreover, increased debt has been found to be negatively related to profitability (Lyngstadaas & Berg, 2016) thus compounding the effects of higher rates and unfavorable loan terms that small business owners contend.

Conversely, business leaders at larger firms with access to higher levels of cash and inexpensive financing are able to pay bills on time, thus taking advantage of discounts or avoid late fees (Nobanee & Abraham, 2015). Similarly, Foyeke, Olusola, and Adermie (2016) found that manufacturing companies listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange improved profitability, in part due to the elimination of financing costs, when owners financed new projects using equity and recommended policies to allow smaller, unquoted firms to leverage equity financing. By the same token, Thaker, Bin, Mohammed, Duasa, and Abdullah (2016) proposed a model that mimics equity financing. To counter the obstacles faced when seeking external financing, they suggested a model that makes available collateral- and interest- free funding for business and related projects to Malaysian SME owners (Thaker, Bin, Mohammed, Duasa, & Abdullah, 2016).

Small business owners often have few options when capitalizing their businesses and as a result, might utilize other short-term financing tool (Psillaki & Eleftheriou, 2015; Yazdanfar & Öhman 2016). When traditional sources of financing (banks and lending institutions) are not options, small business owners may be forced to use alternative forms including personal savings, household or credit card debt, personal loans, or trade credit (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Tsuruta, 2016). Trade credit is a source of funding from a supplier from whom a small business leader purchased items for resale or conversion into a finished product. The use of trade credit stretches out the payment timeline between the attainment of goods and reselling good to customers. Small business owners of less profitable firms make use of trade credit and accounts payable when other financing options are not available (Ghosh, 2015; Psillaki & Eleftheriou, 2015; Yazdanfar and Öhman, 2017). However, when managed appropriately, trade credit complemented other short-term debt options and provided access to necessary financing (Psillaki & Eleftheriou, 2015; Yazdanfar & Öhman, 2017).

When utilizing any alternative method of debt capital to finance operations, business leaders agree to pay a supplier later for goods received today. These arrangements can result in higher borrowing costs than a bank loan (Ghosh, 2015; Otto, 2018; Yazdanfar & Öhman, 2016) which may prove detrimental to the sustainability of small businesses. Yazdanfar and Öhman (2016) found that SMEs that exhibited higher liquidity and better access to cash tended to have lower total accounts payable and, conversely, firms with higher levels of accounts payable were less profitable (Yazdanfar & Öhman, 2016).

In her study of the functionality of loans to trade associations and their members in the Philippines, Garcia (2017) found improvement in small business owners' profitability and efficiency. The researchers provided grants to trade association representatives who in turn provided loans to members who owned and operated small businesses. Through this funding model, that included reasonable terms, members were able to lower borrowing costs (Garcia, 2017). Further, Garcia (2017) determined that assistance and monitoring provided by trade association leaders aided members in improving their business operations and socio-economic conditions.

In the prior sections, I discussed the essential nature of managing cash receipts, cash disbursements, working capital, and major expenditures. In the next two sections, I discuss the importance of internal controls and cash budgets toward the safeguarding and planning of cash. In the final section of the review of the professional and academic literature, I explored the impact of computerized accounting systems on effective cash management.

## **Internal Controls to Safeguard Cash**

An element of cash management includes a small business leader's ability to plan internal controls designed to safeguard cash. Certified fraud examiners found that 32% of the fraud cases they reviewed occurred in businesses with fewer than 100 employees (Gagliardi, 2014). Common frauds perpetrated against small business owners include tampering with checks and billing processes and expense reimbursements, cash skimming, and larceny (Hess & Cottrell, 2016; Kennedy, 2018; Kramer, 2015; Omar, Nawawi, & Puteh Salin, 2016). This is of particular importance because owners of small

businesses are at higher risk of fraud since they have fewer resources available to deal with prevention and detection (Kennedy, 2018; Kramer, 2015; Moore, 2018). When small business owners experience fraud losses, they may find themselves unable to pay debts and employees on time, invest in their businesses, or generate revenues (Kennedy, 2018; Moore, 2018).

At the same time, small business owners often operate with high levels of trust towards employees, resulting in losses occurring at the hands of unscrupulous employees (Kramer, 2015; Moore, 2018). Similarly, Kapardis & Papastergiou (2016) found owners of businesses with fewer than 100 employees were victims of fraud at a higher percentage than larger businesses. Furthermore, when a trusted employee committed the theft, a small business leader may feel emotional loss as well as financial loss (Hess & Cottrell, 2016; Kennedy, 2018; Kennedy, & Benson, 2016). Making these statistics more troubling is that among fraudsters, the longer they work for a business, the higher the median dollar amount of the fraud perpetrated (Gagliardi, 2014). Kennedy (2018) found that among small businesses surveyed operating in the Midwest United States, 70.4% of cash theft was at the hands of employees and 23.2% by managers. Owners accounted for only 4% of thefts (Kennedy, 2018).

Among the fraud cases reviewed, certified fraud examiners determined that 35% occurred in a business environment that lacked an internal control system (Gagliardi, 2014). Dilla and Raschke (2015) found that an individual's ability to identify fraud is dependent on their capability to identify patterns of suspect transactions. This competency also enhanced their aptitude to understand their economic position by being

able to discern losses from theft versus losses from poor operating performance (Frazer, 2016). Therefore, small business owners should increase their knowledge of cash management practices and take an active role in the internal control processes at their company to minimize misuse and theft.

When considering an internal control system, small business owners should have an understanding of the fraud triangle. Dr. Donald Cressey first developed the fraud triangle theory in 1953 (Kramer, 2015). Cressey posited that three conditions typically exist when employees steal or embezzle from their employer: unshareable pressure, opportunity, and rationalization (Bakri, Mohamed, & Said, 2017; Kennedy, 2018; Kramer, 2015; Omar et al., 2016). Unshareable pressure includes financial pressures that the employee feels they cannot share with family, friends or their employer (Kramer, 2015; Omar et al., 2016). The opportunity to misuse an employer's assets exists when internal controls are nonexistent or poorly enforced (Kramer, 2015; Omar et al., 2016). As one might expect, the weaker the controls, the higher the opportunity exists for an employee to commit fraudulent activity (Bakri et al., 2017; Hess & Cottrell, 2016). An employee may further rationalize the misguided act by believing that they deserve the stolen assets or that they will pay the employer back (Bakri et al., 2017; Kramer, 2015; Omar et al., 2016). When all three conditions exist, the likelihood of employees engaging in illegal activity increases (Bakri et al., 2017; Kramer, 2015; Omar et al., 2016).

When small business owners understand the fraud triangle, they can develop appropriate internal control systems designed to minimize the risk of employee theft.

According to members of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations, internal control

"is a process, affected by an entity's board of directors, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives related to operations, reporting, and compliance" (Wilkins & Haun, 2014, p. 48). Within this context, small business owners should establish internal controls activities surrounding handling cash, credit card information, and checks.

Some internal controls should come into play before hiring an employee since preventative controls can be effective to avert misappropriation of company assets (Kapardis & Papastergiou, 2016). Researchers have determined that lower-level employees internal to the organization are responsible for most cases of theft (Kapardis & Papastergiou, 2016; Kennedy, 2018) so it is important for small business owners to screen employees before making a hire. Compounding this need for appropriate screening is the fact that the most common crimes perpetrated by employees are theft of cash, petty cash, and assets (Kapardis & Papastergiou, 2016; Omar et al., 2016). Conducting background criminal and credit checks will reveal prior illegal activity and financial pressures (Kramer, 2015). An individual's prior fraudulent behavior may have gone unreported making the criminal background check ineffective. However, a credit check could reveal if a potential employee has financial troubles. Given that an element of the fraud triangle is unshareable pressure, a small business leader should take steps to know if a potential employee possessed significant debt or past due accounts (Kramer, 2015).

Small business owners can implement internal controls designed to safeguard cash and checks at a negligible cost. For instance, an essential step in preventing fraud is to train employees in proper cash handling procedures and encourage them to report

concerns about suspicious activity (Frazer, 2016; Hess & Cottrell, 2016; Kramer, 2015). Other commonly accepted activities included restrictively endorsing checks as for deposit only, depositing checks and cash into a business bank account within a reasonable amount of time, and reconciling bank statements promptly (Wilkins & Haun, 2014). Because small business owners may rely on one individual to conduct many of these activities (Frazer, 2016; Kapardis & Papastergiou, 2016), they should receive the bank statements at their home address, periodically review bank statements and reconciliations including cancelled checks, and paid invoices to improve internal control (Frazer, 2016). Further, Free and Murphy (2015) recommend that to minimize fraud, managers should conduct surprise audits of internal control functions, and require employees to take vacations and rotate job duties with others.

Bakri, Mohamed, and Said (2017) found that even when individuals display high levels of integrity, that trait does not always moderate the positive relationship between the fraud triangle and fraud occurrence. Therefore, small business owners should take an active role in managing the business and create an environment where all employees are encouraged and feel safe to report suspected wrongdoing (Hess & Cottrell, 2016l Kennedy, 2018). To achieve this environment, small business owners should establish and distribute a workplace code of conduct and associated written procedures (Hess & Cottrell, 2016; Kennedy, 2018).

As noted above, a small business leader can implement some internal control procedures at a minimal cost. Some of these controls are preventive in nature such as background checks (Frazer, 2016). Other controls are detective in their design such as

depositing cash often and utilizing bank accounts. However, in a business environment such as a tavern, where many transactions each of a small dollar amount occur quickly, the implementation of internal controls during while cash is exchanging hands from customer to employee may be difficult (Frazer, 2016). In these cash-heavy situations, a small tavern owner will find that a point of purchase system (POS) functions well as a point of internal control (Frazer, 2016). Furthermore, integrating the tavern's inventory control system into the POS system further strengthened the control environment. Small tavern owners can monitor inventory levels to compare to sales to determine if alcohol usage reasonable equates to cash and credit card inflows (Frazer, 2016). Additionally, by linking the inventory to a computerized POS, small business owners realized lower costs of obtaining and carrying inventory, and enhanced accounts payable processing both of which improved business performance (Bahri, St-Pierre, & Sakka, 2017).

# **Cash Budgets to Support Business Decisions**

The results of business operations account for most of the cash coming into and out of a business, and researchers have found that consistent and predictable cash flow is a determinant of continued business sustainability (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Shamsudin & Kamaluddin, 2015). However, small business owners sometimes find that sales are not always steady which results in high and low volume periods leaving them at risk of being cash poor when liabilities come due (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015). Small business owners need to understand the timing of cash into and out of their businesses to pay bills on time, attract investors, and improve the odds of their businesses survival (Enow and Kamala, 2016). Understanding the proper timing of cash receipts,

disbursements, and investments also affects a business leader's ability to forecast cash needs (Modlin, 2014). When small business owners improve their ability to predict cash needs accurately, they may experience reduced holding and transaction costs, credit line savings, and benefits from short-term investment opportunities (Righetto, Morabito, & Alem, 2016; Salas-Molina et al., 2017). Using a budget control system can also minimize a small business owners' overconfidence of anticipated financial performance thus minimizing potential business failure (Invernizzi et al., 2016).

Financial instruments such as budgets can be helpful tools for small business owners to assess financial performance, support decision-making and planning to continue as a going concern (Arnold & Gillenkirch, 2015; Cook & Wolverton, 2015; Shields and Shelleman, 2016). A cash budget is a tool that small business owners can use to plan, manage, and control cash sources and uses for a specific period (Bahri et al., 2017; Cook & Wolverton, 2015; Kemp et al., 2015; Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). Previous researchers highlighted the importance of cash budgeting to small business owners. Romanian SME owners and managers cited budgeting of cash flows as the second most used practice behind budgeting to control operating costs thus further illustrating the importance of monitoring cash (Cuzdriorean, 2017). Similarly, Armitage, Webb and Glynn (2016) examined the use of managerial accounting techniques used by SMEs in Canada and Australia. Small and medium enterprise leaders reported common use of analysis techniques related to cash including the cash components of the operating budget (Armitage, Webb and Glynn, 2016). Even the lightest users of managerial

techniques (three or fewer) reported a focus on methods involving cash-flow data (Armitage et al., 2016).

By understanding better the inflows and outflows of cash, a small business leader can attain organizational stability and sustainability (Kemp et al., 2015; Shamsudin & Kamaluddin, 2015), be better positioned to achieve strong financial liquidity and firm performance, and predict credit and debt payments (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). Using cash budgets helps small business owners plan for cash shortages, which may require short-term financing to ensure that suppliers and creditors are paid on time (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014). Moreover, a small business leader usage of cash budgets will result in better decision-making and spur thinking about not only their company's cash position but also general financial performance (Kemp et al., 2015). Small business owners can also use a cash budget to anticipate excess cash thus enabling them to take advantage of short-term investment opportunities (Mungal & Garbharran, 2014).

Researchers have studied the extent to which small business owners used cash budgets when making business decisions (Enow & Kamala, 2016; Kemp et al., 2015). Focusing on SMME retail operators in Cape Metropolis, SA, they found a significant difference between those who prepared cash budgets and those who did not, yet among those that did, most stated that they found cash budgets either useful or very useful in terms of making business decisions (Enow & Kamala, 2016; Kemp et al., 2015). Similarly, Okabe and Suez-Sales (2015) found that Japanese and Guamanian cash statement preparers viewed them as a helpful tool for decision-making and other managerial purposes. Haron, Yahya, and Haron (2014) surveyed small manufacturing

business owners in Malaysian about their use of cash information for investment and financing decision-making. They found a positive association between the use of cash flow information from cash budgets and other sources and performance (Haron, Yahya, & Haron, 2014). On the contrary, owners who relied on more on accounts receivable and accounts payable information to make investment and financing decisions experienced lower business performance (Haron et al., 2014).

Given the importance of understanding cash flow to the sustainability of small business, small business owners should prepare, update, and leverage the information contained within a cash budget. Despite this, not all small business owners leverage this beneficial tool. Some small business owners find it challenging to find the time to develop and update cash budgets while others report that they lack the financial literacy to prepare and utilize cash budgets for operating their business (Haron et al., 2014). In the same way, Romanian SME owners and managers cited time, financial constraints, and managerial commitment as reasons why managerial practices, including cash budgeting, were not adopted (Cuzdriorean, 2017). Furthermore, external stakeholder requirement may influence whether a small business leader prepares a cash budget. In Japan, SME leaders and managers prepare cash budgets to comply with lending institution requirements while their counterparts in Guam mainly prepared cash flow statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP (Okabe & Suez-Sales, 2015).

Australian researchers applied a mixed method approach to study small business experts' opinions and perceptions towards small business owner's financial literacy in regards to cash management and cash budgets (Belle Isle et al., 2018). They found that

over 91% of small business experts agreed that small business owners should prepare cash budget as part of their cash management strategy (Belle Isle et al., 2018). The opinion among these same experts regarding small business owner cash management practices was not as optimistic about small business owners understanding of cash flow (30%), ability to establish procedures (17.4%) or utilize financial statements (8.1%) to manage cash (Belle Isle et al., 2018).

## **Computerized Accounting Systems**

Small business owners perform many functions including production, finance, marketing, and operations management, however not all owners utilize a computerized accounting system (CAS) to manage cash (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; López & Hiebl, 2015). Catto (2016) provided evidence from a study of Australian SMEs that 66% of firms with less than \$250,000 in revenues did not utilize a CAS. Accounting information systems shape managerial processes (Azudin & Mansor, 2018) and business owners who lack a CAS may have difficulty managing cash or discussing their financial position with their banker, and spend excess time juggling funds (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015). Swedish researchers Emsfors and Holmberg (2015) found that some small business owners lacked a formal CAS, resulting in a lack of readily available accounting information when planning for and making business decisions. Along the same lines, Enzeagba (2017) surveyed Nigerian SME leaders and professional accountants. His analysis of both group's responses revealed a statistically significant acceptance that SME leaders could improve their contribution to the broader economy by introducing a sound accounting system (Enzeagba, 2017).

Belle Isle and Freudenberg (2015) found that leaders who use a CAS to manage operations have fewer problems with liquidity and experience greater success managing cash, as well as the timing and amount of liabilities, and spend less time tracking finances required for upcoming liability payments. Likewise, Bahri et al. (2017) concluded that the use of a CAS positively and significantly improved current asset turnover including accounts receivable and inventory. Furthermore, automation of the cash management process helps small business owners improve the reliability of information related to cash flow and cash position (Wölfing & Moormann, 2017). With better quality cash information, they are better able to identify and follow up on unusual payments (Wölfing & Moormann, 2017).

A cloud-based CAS may provide an environment for small business owners to access accounting information remotely without relying on local servers or a personal computer (Al-Ayyoub, Wardat, Jararweh, Khreishah, 2015; Liu, Chan, & Ran, 2016; Mangiuc, 2017). Users of cloud-based CAS systems can take advantage of flexible pricing including on-demand and pay-as-you-go options (Alkhanak, Lee, Rezaei, & Parizi, 2016; Carniani, D'Arenzo, Lazouski, Martinelli, Mori, 2016). Furthermore, Irish researchers found that when SME leaders used cloud computing as a part of their accounting and finance infrastructure, they experienced positive effects on components on intellectual capital (structural, human, and relational) and subsequent improved business performance (Cleary & Quinn, 2016).

Australian researchers sought small business experts' opinions and perceptions towards small business owner's CAS literacy (Belle Isle et al., 2018). Fifty-two percent

of the experts agreed that the use of a CAS enhanced the reliability of accounting records and 82.2% asserted that the dependability and usefulness of the accounting records are improved when a CAS system is set up by an accountant or advisor (Belle Isle et al., 2018). These same experts opined that small business owners' CAS literacy should result in their ability to produce and understand financial reports including reports that inform cash management strategies (Belle Isle et al., 2018).

Some small business owners lacked resources or expertise to conduct cash management activities and hired professional accountants to provide advisory, technical, and professional support (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Nwobu, Faboyede, & Onwuelingo, 2015). Nwobu, Faboyede, & Onwuelingo (2015) also found that among small businesses (5-49 employees), there was a positive correlation between the voluntary purchase of business advice and SME performance. However, when seeking external advice, the cost of acquiring accounting and business services was an obstacle for some small business owners (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015).

Carey and Tanewski (2016) also studied factors that influenced SME (defined as 5-200 employees) leaders to seek business advice. When business leaders deemed the accountant as competent, they were more likely to purchase business advice; however, the length of the relationship influenced this choice (Carey & Tanewski, 2016). The researchers shed light on the connection between external accountants' competence and the length of the relationship noting that information asymmetry and uncertainty hampered the relationship at initial stages (Carey & Tanewski, 2016). The SME owner

may buy more or less business advice depending on the relationship formed (Carey & Tanewski, 2016).

### **Summary and Transition**

In Section 1, I provided the background of the problem under study as well as critical elements including the problem statement, purpose statement, nature and significance of the study, research question, and conceptual framework. I also presented in Section 1 a comprehensive review of the professional literature. The literature review began with an analysis of the conceptual framework selected for this study, financial literacy theory. The literature review also included a discussion of cash management strategies used by small business owners to maintain business sustainability.

In Section 2, I reiterate the purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study to be an exploration of the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. In this section, I provide details about the project, the role of the researcher, participants, research design and methods, and population and sampling. Furthermore, I present ethical considerations and address research data collection, organization, and analysis issues. I conclude Section 2 with a discussion of how I addressed reliability and validity.

## Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I explain the methodology used to explore the cash management strategies that some small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Beginning with the purpose statement, I provide details about my role as the researcher and approach to the selection of participants, research method and design, population and sampling techniques. Following a discussion of ethical considerations, I explain how I collected, organized, and analyzed the research data. Lastly, I conclude Section 2 with a discussion of how I ensured the reliability and validity of the study.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. The targeted population consisted of three owners of small taverns in Southeast Alaska who have been in business for more than 5 years. The implication for positive social change included the potential to provide aspiring small business owners with new insights into viable cash management strategies, thus placing them in an improved position to realize economic success. The results of this study could help small business owners avoid business failure and achieve sustainability, consequently creating jobs to enhance the standard of living of other citizens in their communities.

### **Role of the Researcher**

In the qualitative research method of study, the researcher is considered the research instrument (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). While fulfilling this role, the qualitative researcher identifies the research problem; designs the research questions;

selects the study method, design, and participants; makes decisions regarding ethical issues; and how to collect and analyze data (Bromley, Mikesell, Jones, & Khodyakov, 2015; Khankeh, Ranjbar, Khorasani-Zavareh, Zargham-Boroujeni, & Johansson, 2015). In this qualitative case study, my role as researcher involved making choices regarding purpose, research questions, study method and design, participant selection, informed consent and ethical issues, data collection and analysis, and the development of conclusions and themes.

The role of the researcher also involves creating an ethical study environment to support ethical decision-making, problem solving, and the ability to reach quality conclusions and themes (Laukkanen, Suhonen, & Leino-Kilpi, 2015). The authors of the Belmont Report codified three basic principles of ethical research involving human subjects: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [DHHS], 1979; Bromley et al., 2015). Researchers should adhere to these principles by affording subjects informed consent, providing an assessment of benefits and risks of participating in the study, and treating subjects fairly (DHHS, 1979; Bromley et al., 2015). Before participants consent, researchers should inform them about issues related to study demands, risks, inconveniences, discomforts, and benefits they may experience (Duvall Antonacopoulos, & Serin, 2016). Before conducting my research, I completed the National Institution of Health training on protecting human research participants. By completing this training, I gained an understanding of ethical research practices as they relate to human participants. Further, I adhered to standard ethical protocols of research, including obtaining approval from Walden's Institutional

Review Board (IRB) before obtaining informed consent or collecting data from participants.

A qualitative researcher should reflect on her knowledge of the study's issues and take steps to mitigate bias that might arise from their presuppositions (Berger, 2015). Given the role as the research instrument, a researcher cannot be fully separate from the research and must acknowledge their personal lens when collecting and analyzing data (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Researchers should be aware of bias in all phases of their research and take steps to mitigate it (Leedy & Ormrod, 2018; Roulston & Shelton, 2015). While it is not possible to eliminate all systematic error, or bias, if left unaddressed, bias can cause a researcher to reach erroneous conclusions (Leedy & Ormrod, 2018; Roulston & Shelton, 2015). Berger (2015) recommended that researchers mitigate bias by consciously focusing on the participant's responses as they hear them without projecting their knowledge onto those accounts. I have neither experience running a tavern nor a small business. As a certified public accountant, I do have experience in and knowledge of accounting and cash management practices. While collecting data, I was cognizant of my specialized knowledge, monitored my interaction with participants, and was mindful of how my personal lens and training may affect how I collected and analyzed data.

Qualitative researchers use in-depth interviewing to collect data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I utilized an interview guide protocol to collect data from study participants. Within this style of interviewing, a researcher prepares a list of open-ended questions in advance, meets with the participant at a scheduled time, and asks the questions in a specific sequence (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). This interview protocol

allows participants to structure their responses in a manner that allows their views to unfold during the interview (Cridland, Jones, Caputi, & Magee, 2015). Researchers should strive to create an interview atmosphere where participants feel valued and comfortable to share information (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Bias within an interview protocol can exist when researchers frame questions in a leading manner that encourages subjects to answer in a particular way (Babbie, 2016). Further, using technical, vague, or uncommon words within questions can bias how participants will respond (Babbie, 2016). By asking scripted, relevant, and open-ended questions of the participants, I created an atmosphere that stimulated the flow of information between participants and myself as they explained how they utilize cash management practices to support business sustainability.

# **Participants**

A researcher's selection of study participants influences the credibility and trustworthiness of the study conclusions and findings (Babbie, 2016). As a result, study eligibility requirements must have an influence on which participants a researcher selects (Powell, Wilson, Redmond, Gaunt, & Ridd, 2016). Further, Latiffi, Brahim, and Fathi (2016) recommended selecting participants who have knowledge related to the research question of the study. To meet eligibility requirements for this study, participants must have been owners of a small tavern business in Southeast Alaska who have participated in cash management activities that resulted in sustaining their business beyond 5 years.

Prior to contacting study participants, I obtained authorization to conduct research from Walden University IRB (IRB Approval No. 06-03-19-0498120). A researcher's

ability to recruit appropriate study participants is critical to answering the underlying research questions (Montesi & Álvarez Bornstein, 2017). Convenience sampling is a method to gain access to study participants whereby a researcher relies on available subjects (McAbee, Drasgow, & Lowrey, 2017). I am an acquaintance of a small tavern owner in Southeast Alaska. I gained access to my first study participant by asking this individual to participate. A researcher can recruit additional participants by asking the initial participants for their input on further suitable study participants (Babbie, 2016; Latiffi, Brahim, & Fathi, 2016). By using this snowball sampling method, a researcher can recruit additional participants by asking the initial participants for their input on further suitable study participants (Babbie, 2016; Latiffi et al., 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I gained access to additional participants by asking the original participant to identify members of their networks who might also participate in my research study.

A researcher should establish a positive working relationship with study participants to ease access to them and to obtain data (Lewis, 2015). The success of a qualitative research study can depend on a researcher's interpersonal skills and ability to form open and trusting relationships with study participants (Bell, Fahmy, & Gordon, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Babbie (2016) recommends four strategies that a researcher might use to develop rapport with participants: show an interest in them; use good listening behavior; do not argue; and create a relaxed and appropriate setting. To establish positive working relationships, I contacted potential study participants to introduce myself and explain the purpose of my study. I informed them that I will keep

their responses and financial data confidential. Prior to conducting an interview, I provided potential participants with an informed consent document that detailed the risks and benefits of participating in the study. During the interview, I was aware of my body language and demeanor, practiced good listening skills, and refrained from argumentative statements. Aiming for a relaxed setting, I conducted two interviews at the participant's place of business and one interview over the telephone.

# Research Method and Design

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study is to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. There are three possible research methods available to researchers: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Denzin & Lincoln, 2017; Yin, 2018). Qualitative researchers also consider research designs options including phenomenology, ethnography, and case study (Lewis, 2015). In the following sections, I explain how I selected a qualitative case study approach for this study.

#### **Research Method**

I have selected the qualitative research method to explore the cash management strategies small tavern business owners use to sustain their businesses. Qualitative methods allow researchers to gather in-depth data, discover meaning of the unknown, and reconstruct the stories of participants on a conceptual level (Denzin & Lincoln, 2017). Qualitative researchers begin with a research question, and then study that question through the lens of a relevant theory (Sarma, 2015). Further, qualitative researchers collect, analyze, and interpret data collected from participants from talk or observation

(Khankeh et al., 2015). In addition to participant interviews or observations, a qualitative researcher will analyze supplemental documents such as policy statements, journal entries, etc. as sources of data to develop a deeper understanding of the group or strategies studied (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The qualitative method is appropriate for this study because I am attempting to gain an understanding, through the conceptual framework of financial literacy theory, of the cash management strategies small business tavern owners use to sustain their business. To achieve this aim, I interviewed participants in their place of business or over the telephone and analyzed supplemental financial documents such as a balance sheet to calculate financial ratios.

The quantitative method is appropriate when the objective is to formulate a hypothesis, use standardized instrumentation to test for correlation between variables, and generalize the findings to other situations (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Quantitative researchers seek to understand a phenomenon through measurement and quantification (Bristowe, Selman, & Murtagh, 2015). Researchers use numerical results from quantitative methods to compare, rank, and select from study results (Landrum & Garza, 2015). I did not formulate a hypothesis or test for correlation between variables nor did I attempt to quantify, compare, rank, or select a phenomenon amongst others. Therefore, the quantitative method was not appropriate for this study.

A mixed method researcher includes both quantitative and qualitative methods (Archibald, 2015; Fetters, 2016; Snelson, 2016). Within a mixed method study, a researcher gathers and analyzes data utilizing both qualitative and quantitative methodologies (Archibald, 2015; Fetters, 2016; Kachouie & Sedighadeli, 2015). Because

of the quantitative element involved, which I deemed inappropriate for this study, the mixed method was not appropriate for the focus of this study.

# Research Design

Within this study, I used a multiple-case study design. There are several designs that I considered for the qualitative method. They included case study, ethnography, and phenomenology. Within an ethnographic approach, the researcher focuses on a culture-sharing group to prepare a detailed, accurate description of their shared knowledge and experiences (Babbie, 2016; Letourneau, 2015; Wall, 2015). Ethnographic data collection involves the researcher spending extended periods observing, interacting with, and interviewing group members (Letourneau, 2015; Reich, 2015; Wall, 2015). Since I did not spend extended periods with small business tavern owners, this method was not appropriate.

I also considered the phenomenological design, which is a method researcher use to explore lived experiences (Berglund, 2015; Chan & Walker, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Within the phenomenological approach, the researcher studies a phenomenon through many points of view and collects data by interviewing multiple individuals who have experienced the phenomenon (Berglund, 2015; Chan & Walker, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Within a phenomenological study, researchers analyze data analysis and focus the discussion of results on commonalities among the participants experiencing the phenomenon (Berglund, 2015; Chan & Walker, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Because I did not focus on the meaning of small business tavern owners' shared experience, this method was not appropriate.

Case study designs are appropriate for researchers to explore the how and why of a real-life problem within a bounded system (Babbie, 2016; Saxena, 2017; Yin, 2018). Researchers analyze multiple layers of data within a case study by including various sources of information including observation, in-depth interviews, and document analysis (Babbie, 2016; Yin, 2018). Case study researchers discuss results by identifying themes (Babbie, 2016; Yin, 2018). I incorporated case study design techniques including face-to-face interviews and financial document review. I collected data for this study by interviewing small business tavern owners in their place of business and over the telephone to identify categories and themes of cash management strategies. Therefore, the case study design was appropriate for this research topic.

A qualitative researcher seeks to achieve data saturation by building a rich and thick dataset through inquiry (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Morse, 2015b). A researcher accomplishes data saturation when no new characteristics within recognized categories and themes are identified (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Morse, 2015b), there is sufficient data to replicate the study, and further coding becomes infeasible (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Morse, 2015b). While the researcher's choice of study design influences data saturation, within the qualitative research design, the sample size is determined when the researcher attains data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). For example, in their qualitative study Legenne, Chirac, Ruer, Reix, and Fibet (2015) reported reaching data saturation after six interviews noting that they would not gather new information from selecting new patients for the study.

When determining data saturation, some researchers use the technique of transcribing and thematically analyzing data after each interview when determining data saturation (Lee, Moles, & Chaar, 2015; Legenne, Chirac, Ruer, Reix, & Fibet, 2015). I transcribed and subsequently thematically analyzed interview data to enable me to determine that no new themes emerged, thus concluding that I had interviewed a sufficient number of participants.

Fusch and Ness (2015) recommended a strategy to reach data saturation by which a researcher asked the same questions of all study participants. I asked all study participants the same scripted, open-ended interview questions. I used member checking to ensure I achieved data saturation. When exercising member checking, researchers seek agreement with participants by providing them with a written account of the study conclusions and findings (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016; McAbee et al., 2017). Member checking also provides the researcher an opportunity to receive correction and further insights from the participant (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; McAbee, et al., 2017).

# **Population and Sampling**

Within a study, the population is the group from which a researcher seeks to draw conclusions and generalize about (Babbie, 2016). A researcher's selection of the study population will influence design options and decisions (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). When choosing a study population, a researcher must explain the rational for the selection (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Selected participants should possess the ability to provide meaningful data germane to the purpose of this study (Amintoosi, Kanhere, &

Allahbakhsh, 2015). The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. The eligibility requirements for this study are that participants must have been owners of a small tavern business in Southeast Alaska who have participated in cash management activities that resulted in sustaining their business beyond 5 years. Therefore, the study population was three owners of three small taverns in Southeast Alaska. The alignment between the purpose of the study and the participant eligibility suggested that the selected participants possessed the ability to provide suitability data related to the study research question: What cash management strategies do small business tavern owners use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years?

I used convenience sampling to gain access to the first participant for this study, an acquaintance who owns a small business tavern. Convenience sampling is a method to gain access to study participants whereby a researcher relies on available subjects (Emerson, 2015). To select the remaining participants, I used snowball sampling, a method whereby a researcher can recruit additional participants by asking the initial contributor for their input on further suitable study participants (Emerson, 2015).

Qualitative researchers use in-depth interviewing to collect data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). During these interviews, researchers can improve the quality of information obtained by creating a comfortable interview environment (Bowden & Galindo-Gonzales, 2015). Likewise, when researchers use the interview setting to create rapport and gain trust, interviewees gain a level of comfort which allows them to answer questions freely and in an unguarded manner (Cairney & St Denny, 2015). To lay the

groundwork for rapport and trust, I contacted study participants in advance to introduce myself and explain the purpose of the study. To create a relaxed interview setting, I conducted the interviews at the participant's place of business or over the telephone.

A qualitative researcher seeks to achieve data saturation by building a rich and thick dataset through inquiry (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Qualitative researchers achieve data saturation when they do not identify new characteristics within recognized categories and themes, there is sufficient data to replicate the study, and further coding becomes infeasible (Morse, 2015b). Within a study, sample size does necessarily correlate with data saturation (Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, & LaRossa, 2015). Instead, the research question to be explored coupled with the richness of the data collected leads the researcher to determine whether saturation has been achieved (Roy et al., 2015).

In their qualitative study, Legenne et al. (2015) reported reaching data saturation after six interviews noting that they would not gather new information from selecting new patients for the study. Similarly, while studying clinical education, Moonaghi, Mirhaghi, Oladi, and Zeydi (2015) reached data saturation after interviewing twelve nursing students. I transcribed and subsequently thematically analyzed interview data collected from interviews with three owners of small taverns and determine that I had achieved data saturation.

#### **Ethical Research**

Researchers should engage in ethical research practices regarding participants including confidentiality, privacy, and informed consent (Sanjari, Bahramnezhad, Fomani, Shoghi, & Cheraghi, 2015). The decision to take part in this or any study rests

solely with the participant. A researcher affords a participant informed consent that enables them to make a competent decision whether or not to be included in the study (Beskow, Dombeck, Thompson, Watson-Ormond, Weinfurt, 2015). The researcher should clarify within the informed consent documents the study nature and objectives, how the participant will voluntarily take part and, if necessary, withdraw, and how the results will be available (Sanjari et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Before providing informed consent documents to participants, I obtained Walden IRB approval and included the approval number in the final informed consent document. The informed consent form included a description of the study and the procedures they will experience while voluntarily participating including risks and benefits, an explanation of privacy safeguard procedures, and my contact information.

Incentives and compensation, and rights of withdrawal are other ethical areas that researchers should address with study participants (Babbie, 2016). Researchers should inform participants of their right to withdraw without consequence from the study and the methods to do so (Wark, MacPhail, McKay, & Müller, 2017). An appropriate way of alerting participants of their right to discontinue participation is for researchers to include withdrawal procedures in the informed consent agreement (Beskow et al., 2015; Wark et al., 2017). I added verbiage to the informed consent agreement that participants may withdraw from the study at any time without consequences by contacting me via phone, email, or face-to-face.

Researchers might offer compensation to study participants to incent involvement (Jarvis, & Dallery, 2017). In her study involving fraud and sustainability managers,

respectively, Steinmeier (2016) offered no compensation or other incentives to participants. I advised participants that the basis of this study is academic and there was no compensation for their voluntary involvement.

Another critical tenant of ethical research is the need for researchers to maintain the privacy and confidentiality of his or her participants (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). One method to maintain participant confidentiality is to convert their names to some non-identifying alias (Morse & Coulehan, 2015; Sanjari et al., 2015). In their study report, Bromley, Mikesell, Jones, and Khodyakov (2015) attributed comments to either "academic" or "community interviewees" rather than to an identifiable person. To keep participant information private and confidential, I used a scheme whereby I reference each tavern as TAV1, TAV 2, etc. For example, I will reference the participant interviewed from the first tavern as TAV1. Furthermore, I will keep participant information confidential by storing collected data including recordings of interviews in a locked fireproof safe for a minimum of 5 years after the completion of the study before discarding them.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

In the qualitative method of study, the researcher is considered the primary data collection instrument (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). In this study, I was the sole researcher and functioned as the primary data collection instrument. A standard data collection instrument in case study research is the interview (Yin, 2018). Using semistructured interviews, researchers guide participants through an in-depth conversation driven by the overarching research question but informed by the

participant's subject knowledge (Cridland et al., 2015). In their qualitative study of team learning, Hedlund, Börjesson, and Österberg (2015) conducted semistructured interviews utilizing questions focused on the team-learning model. I conducted three semistructured interviews by asking eleven open-ended questions (see Appendix B) designed to obtain information related to the study research question. Further, each interview lasted no more than 60 minutes.

A researcher can maximize the effectiveness of semistructured interviews by scheduling them during convenient times, arriving on time to the scheduled appointment, and conducting the interview at an appropriate pace (Cridland et al., 2015). I created an atmosphere that stimulates the flow of information between participants and myself as they explain how they utilize cash management practices to support business sustainability by conducting semistructured interviews at their place of business, or over the telephone, during a time that was most convenient for them. Qualitative researchers should define in advance the method for recording the interview (Cridland et al., 2015). I recorded the interviews using a portable IC recorder.

Yin (2018) identified six sources of evidence that a researcher relies upon when conducting a case study and while no one source is superior to another, a researcher should leverage more than one. One method of supplementing interview evidence is to gather and analyze documents from participants to develop an understanding of the topic under study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Samuel (2017) reviewed business documents to examine trends and insights on how technology innovations impacted profitability. I

used the examination of small business tavern financial documents such as a balance sheet to calculate financial ratios as an additional data collection instrument.

Member checking and data triangulation are two processes used in qualitative research to improve validity and reliability (Eslamian, Moeini, & Soleimani, 2015).

Qualitative researchers follow data triangulation techniques when determining convergence, or non-convergence, of lines of evidence (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The construct validity of a case study is enhanced when multiple sources of evidence support the researcher's conclusions and themes (Milosevic, Bass, & Combs, 2015). I triangulated the data collected in this study by comparing interview and financial document review results to determine if these converging lines of inquiry support the themes and conclusions I drew.

The process of member checking includes researchers seeking agreement with participants by providing them with a written account of the study conclusions and findings (Birt et al., 2014; Harvey, 2015). The process also includes the researcher an opportunity to receive correction or allowing further expansion and insight on categories from the participant (Harvey, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). When applying member techniques, a researcher adds rigor and strength to the data analysis process (Eslamian et al., 2015). After I identified themes and conclusions, I shared them with study participants for their review, feedback, and guidance.

Within qualitative research, the reliability of the data collection instrument is related to whether the data collection technique yields consistent results in repeated applications (Babbie, 2016). When a researcher focuses on improving the reliability of

their case study design, they are likely to experience reduced errors and bias in the study (Yin, 2018). In her study focused on financial flexibility in the presence of concentrated ownership among Caribbean firms, Estwick (2016) ensured reliability by clarifying her role as researcher and did not participate in the operations of the firms. Further strategies to establish reliability included, conducting interviews with appropriate personnel at their place of business and examining supporting documents (Estwick, 2016). I enhanced the reliability of this study by conducting semistructured interviews with small business tavern owners in their place of business and over the telephone.

To further enhance the reliability of this study, I adhered to an interview protocol. An interview protocol is an essential element in strengthening reliability within qualitative research (Vance, 2015). An interview protocol is a step-by-step researcher guide through participant interviews including ground rules, rapport building, and questions designed to query of the subject of the study (Benia, Hauck-Filho, Dillenburg, & Stein, 2015). A researcher can increase the quality of information obtained from the participant by using a systematic approach detailed in an interview protocol (Eslamian et al., 2015). I developed and utilized an interview protocol for my doctoral study (see Appendix A).

### **Data Collection Technique**

Qualitative researchers utilize data collection techniques aimed at collecting information to address a research question (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) identified six sources of evidence that a researcher may rely upon including documents, archival records, interviews, direct observation, participant-observation, and physical artifacts. To explore

the overarching research question of this study, what cash management strategies do small business tavern owners use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years, I collected data from two sources: the examination of small business tavern financial documents and interviews with small business tavern owners.

Before interviewing participants, I obtained a signed informed consent form from them. The informed consent form for this study included an overview of the purpose, risks and benefits, and participant's rights including confidentiality and ability to withdraw. I contacted participants to schedule the interview at a convenient time. I also informed them of my intent to tape record the interview and secured permission to do so.

Semistructured interviews are a commonly used data collection technique (Cridland et al., 2015). Within the qualitative research field, researchers use semistructured interviews to develop a deeper understanding of the group or strategies studied (Agran, MacLean, & Arden, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The benefit of semistructured interviews is that the researcher can focus on a specific topic, and obtain insightful and personal data from participants (Yin, 2018). The weaknesses of this method are that participants may seek to provide what they perceive as desirable to the interviewer or bias resulting from poorly framed questions (Yin, 2018). To minimize these potential downsides, interviewers should seek to establish trust with participants and work to make them feel at ease and comfortable to provide authentic answers (Kornbluh, 2015). The information obtained through semistructured interviews help researchers understand the effects of participant experiences on the research question

(Kulkarni & Hanley-Maxwell, 2015). To address the objectives of this study, I asked participants eleven research questions (see Appendix B).

An interview protocol is an important preparation tool that assists researchers efficiently organize the practical nature of the interview process (Cridland et al., 2015; Steinmeier, 2016). Agran, MacLean, and Arden (2016) developed an interview protocol when exploring voting behavior among intellectually disabled adults. The use of a standardized interview practice enhanced the researcher's ability to conduct thematic data analysis. In preparation for participant interviews, I developed an interview protocol (see Appendix A). This interview protocol served as guidance as I interviewed all participants in this study. If the interview did not conclude in 60 minutes, I planned to ask the participant if they could continue for a set amount of time or if I should arrange for a follow-up appointment.

Marshall and Rossman (2016) identify member checking as a means to enhance reliability and validity of the data collection process. Within qualitative research, researchers use member checking to garner participant insight on conclusions and themes developed through data analysis techniques (Kornbluh, 2015). The use of member checking can also assist researchers to verify the accuracy data analysis results (Kulkarni & Hanley-Maxwell, 2015). I presented my interpretation of study conclusions and themes developed from collected data to participants to provide them an opportunity to verify, correct, or add as necessary.

### **Data Organization Techniques**

I collected data from two sources: the examination of small business tavern financial documents and interviews with small business tavern owners. Further, I maintained a reflective journal during the interview phase of this study. A reflective journal is a tool to enhance a researcher's understanding of the link between experience and frameworks of knowledge (O'Connell, Dyment, & Smith, 2015). After each interview, I recorded my reflections and observations in the journal. Later, I used these writings to help organize the data collected during the interview process.

Qualitative researchers use data organization techniques to organize, manage, compile and access case study data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). A case study database is one method to organize data from multiple sources and keep them separate from the final study report (Yin, 2018). Within the database, a researcher should develop categories keep track of participants and related interviews, transcriptions, and consent forms (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). To support the organization, coding, and retrieval of data, I created a case study database for electronic files of both recorded interviews and transcriptions prepared in Microsoft Word, and a complementing paper file with hard copies of each participant signed informed consent forms and the related portion of the reflective journal.

Qualitative researchers should take care to ensure that research findings are the results of data analysis and not the researchers' preferences or bias (Sarma, 2015).

Qualitative data analysis software (QDAS) is available to assist researchers with coding, retrieving, and analyzing data; however, these programs can be cumbersome and time-

consuming to incorporate into research practice (Woods, Paulus, Atkins, & Macklin, 2016). Researchers also use spreadsheets to log data-gathering activities (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Woods et al., 2016). I used Microsoft Excel to log data-gathering activities and NVivo<sup>TM</sup> software to organize, track, and code data obtained in this study.

To protect the confidentiality of participants, a researcher must ensure that study data is secured and properly discarded (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I have stored electronic data on a password protected computer and hard copy data in a locked, fireproof safe and will do so for 5 years after the completion of the study. After that time, I plan to shred hard copy and permanently delete electronic data from my computer and IC recorder.

# **Data Analysis**

Data analysis within a qualitative study involves a researcher's search for generalities and themes (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Furthermore, qualitative data analysis goes beyond data organization and collection to include coding, theme development and interpretation, and report writing (Cridland et al., 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Rahman & Areni, 2016). Triangulation is an appropriate data analysis process for case study design. Yin (2018) identifies four types of triangulation for case study: data, investigator, theory, and methodological. Methodological triangulation involves correlating data from multiple collection methods to collaborate the research findings and conclusions (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Yin, 2018). The use of methodological triangulation to validate study results and achieve data saturation enhances the overall quality of a research study (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The

appropriate data analysis process for this case study is methodological triangulation. I triangulated data from transcribed semistructured interviews, financial documents, and reflective journal notes.

Data analysis includes many phases or steps (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). When analyzing the data collected in this study, I completed the following steps. To maintain confidentiality, researchers convert participant names to aliases (Bromley et al., 2015; Morse & Coulehan, 2015; Sanjari et al., 2015). I coded participants using a scheme whereby I reference each tavern as TAV1, TAV 2, etc.

After conducting participant interviews, I transcribed the digital recording to a Microsoft Word document using transcription software. Transcription software allows a researcher to listen to recordings of upload digital files at a speed that will enable them to type words into a word-processing program (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Next, I uploaded the Word document containing transcribed text into NVivo TM. Qualitative data analysis software such as NVivoTM and ATLAS.ti are designed to assist researchers with coding, retrieving, and analyzing data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Woods et al., 2016). The use of software-aided data analysis allows researchers to examine large amounts of data quickly and retrieve previously identified categories and themes more easily (Brennan & Bakken, 2015). Therefore, I used NVivoTM to code the interview narratives into categories and themes.

While preliminary themes can be derived during initial study work, qualitative researchers must spend considerable amounts of time and careful attention when analyzing data to generate categories and themes (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Nassaji,

2015; Plamondon, Bottorff, & Cole, 2015). Further data analysis work involves researchers coding related concepts into categories and themes (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Riera, 2015). As noted above, I used NVivo<sup>TM</sup> software to engage with the interview data to identify categories and themes, and code narrative text accordingly.

An essential step in qualitative data analysis involves a researcher's examinations of data to find meaning and draw conclusions (Lynch, Smith, Provost, & Madden, 2016). Thematic analysis is a qualitative method whereby the researcher searches for common key concepts and themes among various sources of data (Teruel, Navarro, González, López-Jaquero, & Montero, 2016). When using thematic analysis, a researcher reviews the data multiple times to become familiar with them and to identify common themes that relate to the overall research question of the study (Rohlfing & Sonnenberg, 2016). I used thematic analysis techniques when reviewing data to identify and shape themes related to this study.

After I applied thematic analysis techniques to the data, I shared my results with participants through member checking. Member checking involves researchers seeking insight from participants on study conclusions and findings (Kornbluh, 2015; Sarma, 2015). Member checking provides the researcher with an opportunity to receive correction and further insights from the participant, thus enhancing trustworthiness and credibility (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). To improve the overall quality of this study, I provided participants with a written account of my interpretation of their responses and mad adjustments based on feedback from them. Furthermore, during the data analysis process, I focused on identifying key themes and correlating them with the literature and

the financial literacy conceptual framework as well as any new relevant studies published after submitting my proposal.

# Reliability and Validity

Trustworthiness is an essential attribute of qualitative research (Connelly, 2016; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Sarma, 2015). Measures or criteria of trustworthiness include reliability and validity (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The most significant standards of quality for a qualitative researcher to obtain are reliability and validity (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Components of reliability and validity include dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Morse, 2015a; Sarma, 2015). In this section, I discuss these attributes of reliability and validity and how I addressed each one in this study.

### Reliability

Within qualitative research, reliability relates to the ability of one researcher to follow the same procedures within the same case study and derive the same findings and conclusions (Noble & Smith, 2015; Nyhan, 2015; Yin, 2018). As a measure of reliability, researchers strive for dependability and consistency by ensuring the stability of data over time and the course of the study (Connelly, 2016; Noble & Smith, 2015; Sarma, 2015). To establish reliability, researchers should choose appropriate methods and utilize sound procedures to minimize bias and improve the quality of their research (Connelly, 2016; Noble & Smith, 2015; Sarma, 2015). These techniques include developing and maintaining a coding structure that allows for the consistent analysis of collected data (Friginal, Martínez, de Andres, & Ruiz, 2016; Leedy & Ormond, 2018; Theron, 2015).

Moreover, a researcher could maintain an audit trail of all decisions made while conducting the study, and exercise member checking as a means to enhance the reliability of the data collection process (Noble & Smith, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Theron, 2015). I used an audit trail and member checking to enhance the reliability and dependability of this study. Furthermore, in conjunction with employing NVivo<sup>TM</sup> software to organize, track, and code data obtained in this study, I developed a coding structure to analyze data collected from semistructured interviews.

### Validity

Within qualitative research, validity pertains to the extent which study findings accurately reflect the study data (Noble & Smith, 2015). Conducting tests to confirm credibility, transferability, and confirmability aids researchers to establish validity (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Sarma, 2015). Further, a researcher can support validity by establishing consistency between the results and findings (Gonzalez, Rowson, & Yoxall, 2015) and ensuring that methods accurately assess and measure data as intended (Aravamudhan & Krishnaveni, 2016). In the following sections, I discuss the three components of validity: credibility, transferability, and confirmability, and how I ensured data saturation.

**Credibility.** Credibility relates to the confidence one has associated to the trustworthiness of the study (Connelly, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The extent of the credibility of a study is supported when the procedures and methods used are consistent with the study design (Connelly, 2016). Member checking and triangulation of data are qualitative techniques used to establish credibility in qualitative research

(Connelly, 2016; Noble & Smith, 2015; Rossman & Marshall, 2016). Member checking involves sharing data interpretations with participants for confirmation, further insight, or correction (Kornbluh, 2015; Milosevic et al., 2015; Rossman & Marshall, 2016). Researchers follow data triangulation techniques by collecting multiple sources of evidence to develop a comprehensive set of findings and conclusions (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Milosevic et al., 2015; Noble & Smith, 2015). To enhance the credibility of this study, I conducted member checking by providing participants with a written account of the study conclusions and findings. Additionally, I triangulated the data collected in this study by comparing interview and financial document review results to determine if these converging lines of inquiry support the themes and conclusions I had drawn.

Transferability. Transferability has to do with a researcher's ability to utilize study findings and conclusions in a similar situation (Connelly, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Noble & Smith, 2015). To enhance transferability, researchers should collect and analyze data guided by the contextual framework of the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Researchers rely on techniques to improve transferability within a study including the development of a rich and detailed description of the data collected (Connelly, 2016; Milosevic et al., 2015; Morse, 2015a). To develop transferability, I provided an adequate level of description of the case study to provide other researchers the ability to assess the usefulness of my findings and conclusions upon their research question.

Confirmability. Another element of trustworthiness is confirmability (Connelly, 2016; Morse, 2015a; Noble & Smith, 2015). Confirmability involves the accuracy of the data as provided by the participant and the level to which a researcher's findings and conclusions can be confirmed by another researcher (Connelly, 2016; Leedy & Ormond, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). A researcher can utilize techniques such as data triangulation and member checking to establish confirmability (Connelly, 2016; Morse, 2015a; Noble & Smith, 2015). Executing data triangulation within a case study qualitative design involves collecting data from multiple sources (Eslamian et al., 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Milosevic et al., 2015). The process of member checking includes researchers seeking agreement with participants by providing them with a written account of the study conclusions and findings (Birt et al., 2014; Harvey, 2015; Roy et al., 2015). I conducted both data triangulation and member checking procedures to ensure the confirmability of this study.

The process of data saturation is another element of enhancing reliability and validity (Connelly, 2015; Fusch & Ness, 2015; Legenne et al., 2015). A researcher achieves data saturation when no new characteristics within recognized categories and themes are identified (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Morse, 2015b; Roy et al., 2015). When determining data saturation, some researchers use the technique of transcribing and thematically analyzing data after each interview (Lee et al., 2015; Legenne et al., 2015; Roy et al., 2015), asking the same questions of all study participants (Fusch & Ness, 2015), or conducting member checking (Birt et al., 2014; Eslamian et al., 2015). To

ensure data saturation, I conducted member checking, and transcribed and subsequently thematically analyze interview data to confirm that no new themes emerged.

# **Summary and Transition**

I began Section 2 with a restatement of the purpose of this study. I continued the section by providing information on the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, organization and analysis techniques, and reliability and validity. Furthermore, I explained the justification for each of my project choices including qualitative case study design, sampling methodology, and semistructured interview of participants. In Section 3, I present my research findings, and how those findings apply to professional practice and implications for social change. I complete Section 3 with a list of recommendations for action and further research, my reflections on the study, and conclusions.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

In Section 3, I provide an overview of the study, present the findings, and discuss their application to professional practice and their implications for social change. I include recommendations for action and further research. I conclude the section with reflections and conclusions.

### Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple-case study was to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. I collected data through semistructured interviews (face-to-face and telephone) and documentary financial evidence. Each interview included 11 questions, lasted no more than 60 minutes, and was tape-recorded. To maintain confidentiality, I identified participants as TAV 1, TAV 2, and TAV 3. Before conducting each interview, I obtained a signed informed consent from each participant.

I used triangulation to triangulate data from transcribed, semistructured interviews, financial documents, and reflective journal notes. After transcribing each tape-recorded interview, I used NVivo<sup>TM</sup> 12 software to analyze, code, and identify themes. Furthermore, I integrated participant narratives into the developed themes and presented them to participants for member checking. The themes I identified in this study included (a) cash management capabilities, (b) internal controls and employee accountability, and (c) cash management opportunities.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question that guided this study was as follows: What cash management strategies do some small business tavern owners use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years? The population consisted of owners of three small taverns in Southeast Alaska. Table 1 shows participant demographics. The data came from two face-to-face interviews, one telephone interview, and financial documents. I used convenience sampling to gain access to the first participant and snowball sampling to select the remaining participants.

The themes that emerged through data analysis included cash management capabilities, internal controls and employee accountability, and cash management opportunities.

Table 1

Participant Demographics

Tavern owner	Gender	Years of operation	Number of employees
TAV 1	Female	20	8
TAV 2	Female	5	10
TAV 3	Male	35	6

# **Theme 1: Cash Management Capabilities**

All of the participants I interviewed identified these cash management capabilities: depositing all cash into and reconciling bank accounts, using computerized accounting software and a point of sale (POS) system to ring up transactions, and

effective methods to monitor cash distributions to vendors and employees. Further, all tavern owners were using an outside accountant to assist with bank reconciliations and general ledger maintenance.

Each tavern owner deposited cash into bank accounts and reconciled bank statements to their general ledger cash balance. Both activities are exemplary cash management activities (Wilkins & Haun, 2014). TAV 1 and TAV 3 reported counting cash daily, preparing the deposit, and taking it to the bank. TAV 2 had a safe where the money is dropped each night. All tavern owners reported reconciling banks accounts monthly. During these reconciliations, out of the ordinary and missing items are identified and corrected.

Each tavern leader used computerized accounting software (CAS) and a POS system. These types of technology controls enhance a small business leader's cash management system (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015; Frazer, 2016). TAV1 required her employees to clock in and out via the POS system. Similarly, TAV3 stated that each employee had a unique number within the POS system so if there is a mistake it can be traced to a specific employee. TAV2 stated that "I have POS with two terminals and that's how the bartenders ring everything up. I can print reports including a labor report and a sales report, it's a great system".

Each tavern owner used a CAS system to run their small business. TAV1 indicated a preference to enter all transactions CAS to support financial reporting stating that "when it's all inputted, that's where you get your profit-loss statements, and I look at them every single month and say okay what happened this month". TAV 3 commented

on the positive evolution of technology while running his business, "Thirty-five years ago when I first came here, there was no computer; everything was cash and checks. Now everything is done by computer, cash management didn't really change, but everything is controlled by the computer. That's made it easier, but you got more control today. You have more control with the computer". The participant's experience with CAS systems is in line with some researcher's findings that using a CAS to manage operations resulted in business owners experiencing fewer problems with liquidity and greater success in managing cash, spending less time tracking finances required for upcoming liability payments (Belle Isle & Freudenberg, 2015) and being better able to identify and follow up on unusual payments (Wölfing & Moormann, 2017).

Each tavern owner utilized methods of cash disbursement that enhanced cash management. TAV 1 and TAV 2 described disbursement processes that included reconciling invoices to monthly statements and following up on discrepancies. The practice paying vendors from a monthly statement instead than after each invoice aligns with Danjuma's et al. (2015) findings that profitability is improved when small business owners maximized the timeline allowed to pay vendors. All tavern owners processed checks through their CAS system. As noted above, researchers have found many small business owners reap cash management related benefits, including experiencing greater success managing the timing and amount of liabilities (Belle Isle and Freudenberg, 2015).

All tavern owners reported using their company credit card sparingly, although for different reasons. TAV 1 stated that she would rather write checks via her CAS system because she "likes to follow the line item and so many times with credit cards it is

harder to put in the line item after I get my statement. I think it's just harder to make sure your line items are correct". This is counter to Jorgensen's (2016) advice to avoid or delay paying vendors by check because this method is manual and time-consuming. TAV 2 said she would use credit cards more to settle accounts but many of her vendors would not accept credit cards.

Financial literacy is an essential skill to be successful in today's economy (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). These cash management competencies demonstrated financial literacy. Small business owners who possess financial literacy tend to excel in financial activities including paying bills on time and making informed choices among financial products such as bank accounts and financing options (Siekei et al., 2013). Furthermore, financially literate individuals have developed a positive relationship with money, understand banking practices, credit and debt, and made future financial plans (Vitt et al., 2000).

### Theme 2: Internal Controls and Employee Accountability

Researchers have determined that misappropriation of assets is more likely to occur when the work environment includes the presence of opportunity, and unsharable pressure and rationalization on the part of employees (Bunn, Ethridge, & Crow, 2019). Management oversight of internal control processes can reduce the opportunity for employees to manipulate financial records and assets (Bunn et al., 2019).

All participants described developing and utilizing internal controls designed to safeguard cash. These safeguards involved monitoring employee accountability for their cash drawer, including receipts for alcohol and pull-tab sales, and inventory. Each tavern

owner assigned a separate cash drawer for each employee during their shift. At the end of each shift, employees close their till, printed the daily report, and counted the cash. Tavern owners reported reconciling cash drawer receipts to the daily report and preparing the bank deposit. According to TAV1:

Nobody but the bartender closes their report and I am the one who counts out and does the bank. I have found that if I did not do this, I would not catch people doing stuff or even things like over-pouring. If you're not watching those situations, people can abuse them very easily. Everybody needs to balance their tills.

Two tavern owners reported increased monitoring of employee involvement in pull tab gaming after unexplained cash losses. Employees sell pull tabs, and at the end of the game, tavern owners can expect an ideal net return. After experiencing unexpected losses in this area, both TAV1 and TAV2 developed additional internal controls. These other techniques included physical controls such as weighing the pull tabs and conducting periodic physical counts. Further, TAV1 developed a system of tracking each employee's beginning and ending pull tab cash per day to help identify discrepancies more quickly. TAV2 shared that after missing a large amount of pull-tab cash, she implemented a system of weighing the pull tabs, and reconciling with game winnings. As a result, she is now able to determine the cash balance of pull tab receipts and earnings each day. Mutnuru (2016) found a significant positive relationship between employee engagement and employer implementation of internal controls. This finding held for TAV 1 and TAV

2 who after implementing additional controls, experienced a reduction in cash discrepancy.

Tavern owners also reported designing internal controls to monitor inventory.

None of the tavern owners utilized their POS systems to monitor inventory levels.

Instead, each has developed manual tracking systems to monitor inventory levels. TAV 1 checks off all the empty bottles and reconciles them to the weekly order to replace them. Tavern owners also reported conducting monthly pour count analysis by dividing the cost of alcohol goods sold by the number of alcohol drinks sold. TAV 1 tracks this percentage over time, "which should stay pretty stable, if something really jumps up, it is probably the people are giving away drinks or over-pouring or taking a bottle home all those things". While some researchers recommend integrating inventory management with the POS system, comparing inventory levels to sales is also a tool to strengthen the control environment (Frazer, 2016).

Analyzing the German SAVE survey results, Ćumurović and Hyll (2019) found a positive correlation between financial literacy and self-employment. In their study of small businesses in South Africa, Sibanda and Manda (2016) determined that a lack of an internal control program increased the likelihood of employee theft and failure.

Conversely, Eniola & Entebang, 2017 associated high financial knowledge and high financial confidence with improved financial behavior. The tavern owners participating in this study demonstrated financial knowledge and literacy by designing internal controls to safeguard cash and inventory.

### **Theme 3: Cash Management Opportunities**

As noted above in Themes 1 and 2, all three tavern owners described cash management capabilities and internal control practices. However, there were areas where tavern owners could take advantage of opportunities to expand and possibly improve their cash management processes. None of the three tavern owners reported utilizing a formal cash budget to plan cash needs or make business decisions. However, all three described informal processes to monitor cash. TAV 1 explained "every month I look and see what went out and to be honest in a little business, you know yourself". TAV 2 shared that "I don't have a more formal process. I have it in my mind".

Each mentioned a seasonality to cash accumulation where they strived to amass enough during late spring through early fall to carry them through winter and early spring. All participants described carefully monitoring cash balances, and the prioritizing the timing of substantial cash outlays for maintenance and upgrades with necessary expenditures. As TAV 3 summed up, "You monitor your cash balance to prepare for going into that leaner time". Two tavern owners shared reducing their salaries during leaner times. Malmström (2014) describes this as bootstrap financing, where an owner forgoes compensation in the face of an immediate cash problem.

Similarly, the tavern owners did not have formal processes for managing excess cash. TAV 1 and TAV 2 noted allowing cash to accrue in a checking or money market account. As mentioned above, when cash balances grow, tavern owners prioritize and choose capital and maintenance projects. According to TAV 3, "If there is extra money,

like last year, you gotta save that money to remodel or buy other things, things that break down".

Business owners should develop procedures to prevent and detect fraud related to inventory (Karim, Nawawi, & Salin, 2018). Further, linking inventory to a computerized POS may enable a small business owner to realize lower costs of obtaining and carrying inventory, and enhanced accounts payable (Bahri et al., 2017). As previously noted, tavern owners have developed informal methods to monitor inventory. Two tavern owners expressed a desire to integrate inventory management into their POS system; however, they lacked the time required to log inventory into their systems. As a result, TAV 2 grappled over whether exercising case discounts, which resulted in excess inventory, was preferable to forgoing the discount and having less investment and possibly running out.

Utilizing cash management techniques has been found to improve performance, but some small business owners find it challenging to find the time to develop them (Haron et al., 2014; Prasad, 2017). All participants expressed a desire to do more in the areas of cash budgeting, managing excess cash, and controlling inventory. TAV 1 expressed a desire to one day have an excess cash strategy. Further TAV 1 stated "I would have looked at what is the least time consuming but the one that can give you the most checks and balances. I know there could be a lot more things I could do". In the same way, TAV 2 noted, "I try to keep up on accounts payable and just so you know where the money is at right now by entering all my credit cards and all the bank purchases. I get really busy with the daily stuff".

The results of financial ratio analysis are consistent with the themes identified above. Two of the three participants provided balance sheets. Financial ratios enable users of financial statements to assess performance and assess liquidity, solvency, and profitability (Wolf, Stephenson, Knoblauch, & Novakovic, 2016). From the amounts reported on the balance sheet, three financial ratios were calculated: current ratio; acid test ratio, and debt to asset ratio. Table 2 shows the financial ratio results. TAV 1 results showed sufficient liquidity and solvency. TAV 2 results revealed higher risks of liquidity and solvency problems; however, the amount reported in current liabilities included an amount due to owners. Modified financial ratios were calculated removing this amount. Financial statement users expect all liabilities to be reported. However, if payments to owners are delayed, it is unlikely that punitive action would be taken. By disregarding amounts owed to owners, the modified financial ratios suggested adequate liquidity and solvency for TAV 2.

Table 2

Financial Statement Ratios

	Liqu	Liquidity	
	Current Ratio <sup>a</sup>	Acid Test Ratio <sup>b</sup>	Debt to Asset Ratio <sup>c</sup>
TAV 1	2.2:1	1.6:1	8.7%
TAV 2	.5:1	.4:1	54%
TAV 2 <sup>d</sup>	2.7:1	1.9:1	10%

### **Applications to Professional Practice**

The specific business problem that grounded this study is that some small business tavern owners lack cash management strategies necessary to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. The themes that emerged through data analysis included cash management capabilities, internal controls and employee accountability, and cash management opportunities. Theme 1, cash management capabilities, was a central theme. Strong banking practices, effective use of technology, cash disbursement policies, and reliance on outside accountants were subcategories of this theme. Theme 2, internal controls and employee accountability, was also a principal theme. All the study participants shared practices that exemplified a command of developing internal controls to monitor cash and employee involvement in cash handling. These results may provide small business owners with an understanding of cash management capabilities and internal control practices may improve business performance. Sibanda and Manda (2016) opined that small business owners must develop internal control structures to achieve sustainability. Similarly, Karadağ (2018) found a positive association between conducting cash management practices and financial performance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Current assets / current liabilities. An indicator of the ability to pay short-term debts as they become due (Wolf, Stephenson, Knoblauch, & Novakovic, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Current assets - inventory/ current liabilities. Inventory is excluded from current assets when calculating the ratio (Wolf et al., 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Total liabilities / total assets. A measure of financing provided by creditors. A high percentage may signal a business might be able to meet obligations as they come due (Wolf et al., 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>These ratio calculations remove "due to owners" from current liabilities.

As noted in Theme 3, cash management opportunities, all participants shared a lack of reliance on cash budgets and an excess cash strategy. This result can provide industry association leaders and accounting professionals with guidance to develop training focused on better utilization of cash budgets and excess cash management. Professional accounting firms provide small business owners with advisory, technical, and professional support (Nwobu et al., 2015). Among small business, Carey (2015) found a positive correlation between the voluntary purchase of business advice and SME performance, and business advice combined with auditing enhanced SME performance further. Thus, the results of this study related to this theme might inform professional accountants understanding of what cash management functions small tavern owners would benefit from training and support.

# **Implications for Social Change**

There are 29.6 million small businesses in the United States (SBA, 2017). Given the importance of small business to the national economy, society could benefit from the positive impact that results when small business owners make better managerial decisions based on sustainable cash management strategies. Owners of small businesses contribute significantly to economic growth and sustainability in the United States. Jha and Depoo (2017) analyzed U.S. Census Bureau and Small Business Administration data from 2006 through 2012 and found a higher correlation between payroll and employment growth among business with up to nine employees than among businesses with 500 and more employees. This finding demonstrates the positive social impact small business has towards increasing job availability and contributing to economic stability within the

communities they operate. By understanding what cash management strategies some successful small business owners utilize to manage their businesses, other small business owners may be in a better position to realize economic success.

Other benefits could extend beyond the small business, including increased job creation, improved local and regional economies, and enhanced standard of living for individuals and households within those localities and regions. Kaya (2018) studied small business characteristics and their owners' view of the economy. The researcher found that in the United States, where business owners reported a positive outlook on the state economy, firms were smaller (2–20 employees), and had more local sales. The findings from this study can contribute to small tavern owners developing cash management and internal control capabilities. The effects of these capabilities on business success may improve their economic outlook of their local economies leading to increased charitable giving and other community support.

### **Recommendations for Action**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Within the emergent themes and findings deduced from this study, was indications of capabilities and strengths, but also opportunities for improvement. Professional and local business associations should pay attention to the results of this study by providing opportunities for seasoned tavern owners to share effective cash management practices with newer business owners. Furthermore, these associations

might consider facilitating workshops to local business owners to address cash management opportunities such as cash budgets and excess cash management.

Accountants should also pay attention to the results of this study. As noted above, Carey (2015) found a positive correlation between the voluntary purchase of business advice and SME performance. In other research, Banham and He (2014) found that 71% of total business in public accounting firms is provided to small and medium enterprises. Both sets of researcher's findings suggested many small business owners seek external accounting assistance. The results of this study may place accountants in an improved position to provide appropriate guidance to small business owners for their cash management needs.

Academics should also pay attention to the results of this study. Burke and Gandolfi (2014) studied the adequacy of coverage of small and medium company business needs within higher education accounting curriculum. The majority of practitioner CPAs (61.11%) reported that their accounting education in the area of small business was insufficient (Burke & Gandolfi, 2014). Similarly, Bunney, Sharplin, and Howitt (2015) found that Australian accounting students lacked skills that were transferrable to the actual workplace, including flexibility and innovation. This misalignment of curriculum and practice may negatively affect small business owners who encounter ill-prepared accountants when seeking cash management and other accounting expertise. It would be beneficial for academicians to design a curriculum that serves small business tavern owners and the accountants who provide professional services to them.

The findings of this study will be made available through the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database. I will pursue avenues to publish an abridged version of this study in scholarly and business journals. I also intend to look for opportunities to share findings through conferences, workshops, and accounting and business-focused trainings.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

This qualitative multiple-case study is limited to the cash management strategies three small taverns located in Southeast Alaska described using to manage their businesses. Consequently, the reliance on case study limited my ability to generalize findings to a broader small business owner community. Recommendations for further research include adding medium-sized businesses in industries that also deal with a high volume of cash transactions. Further research could also broaden the geographic parameters to include all of Alaska. By expanding the population parameters, a researcher could investigate potential differences in urban and rural settings and the size and type of business.

Further research into what cash management strategies small business owners use could include a survey or questionnaires methods to gather data from a broader set of participants. Quantitative researchers seek to understand a phenomenon through measurement and quantification (Bristowe et al., 2015). I did not use numeric data in this study. However, incorporating a well-structured questionnaire or survey administered to the target population could lead to a more extensive analysis of the research question. When used in tandem, qualitative and quantitative methods may provide complementary

data to assist a researcher in gaining an understanding of the research problem (Cameron, Sankaran, & Scales, 2015).

A limitation of this study was that technological advancements in the areas cash management could limit the value of the findings and conclusions identified in this study. While I did not ask questions specific to technology, all participants shared details of computerized accounting and point-of-sale systems. Further researchers could gain insight into the benefits and challenges of technology by exploring how small business owners use technology in their cash management systems.

### Reflections

Reflecting on my doctoral study process, I realized that I significantly improved my knowledge of the academic research process. Further, I gained an understanding from the research participants about capabilities and challenges of cash management while running a small tavern business. I am grateful to the three participants who made time for me and welcomed me into their businesses.

In the process of completing my data collection, I realized some of the difficulties involved with asking participants to share their time, practices, and financial documents related to their businesses. Overall, I contacted nine tavern owners. One declined participation, three did not return my phone messages, and one initially agreed but then changed his mind. Another tavern owner expresses interest, but communication from her about setting up time was inconsistent, and in the end she did not participate. Ultimately, three tavern owners participated in interviews, and after transcribing all three interviews and coding with NVivo<sup>TM</sup>, I achieved data saturation. These reflections enforced the

belief that the informed consent document is more than a required step. Instead, it is a document that ensured ethical treatment of participants and provided the foundation for respectful and honest interactions.

My reflections also included consideration of how bias may have influenced this qualitative study. Researchers should be aware of bias in all phases of their research and take steps to mitigate it (Leedy & Ormrod, 2018; Roulston & Shelton, 2015). Berger (2015) recommended that researchers mitigate bias by consciously focusing on the participant's responses as they hear them without projecting their knowledge onto those accounts. As a certified public accountant, I do have experience in and knowledge of accounting and cash management practices. To mitigate bias while collecting data, I was cognizant of my specialized knowledge, and monitored my interaction with participants. I also minimized the risk of bias by following an interview protocol (see Appendix A). This interview protocol served as guidance as I interviewed all participants in this study. Furthermore, I asked all participants the same eleven research questions (see Appendix B).

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to explore the cash management strategies that small business tavern owners use to sustain their business beyond 5 years through the lens of financial literacy theory. The emergent themes showed the implementation of cash management capabilities, and internal controls and employee accountability tactics and also cash management opportunities. The implications for positive social change included small business owners being in a better position to realize economic success.

Other benefits could extend beyond the small business, including increased job creation, improved local and regional economies, and enhanced standard of living for individuals and households within those localities and regions.

#### References

- Afrifa, G. A. (2016). Net working capital, cash flow and performance of UK SMEs.

  \*Review of Accounting and Finance, 15, 21-44. doi:10.1108/RAF-02-2015-0031
- Afrifa, G. A., & Padachi, K. (2016). Working capital level influence on SME profitability. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 23, 44-63. doi:10.1108/JSBED-01-2014-0014
- Agran, M., MacLean Jr, W. E., & Andren, K. A. K. (2016). "My voice counts, too":

  Voting participation among individuals with intellectual disability. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *54*, 285-294. doi:10.1352/1934-9556-54.4.285
- Ahmad, N. N., Ahmad, S., & Abdullah, W. M. T. W. (2018). Sustaining SMEs through resources availability and cash management practices: An application of the partial least squares (PLS). *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal*, 10(3), 24-35. Retrieved from http://www.gbmr.ioksp.com
- Al-Ayyoub, M., Wardat, M., Jararweh, Y. & Khreishah, A. A. (2015). Optimizing expansion strategies for ultrascale cloud computing data centers, *Simulation Modelling Practice and Theory*, 58, 15-29. doi:10.1016/j.simpat.2015.03.002
- Alkhanak, E. N., Lee, S. P., Rezaei, R., & Parizi, R. M. (2016). Cost optimization approaches for scientific workflow scheduling in cloud and grid computing: A review, classifications, and open issues. *The Journal of Systems & Software*, 113, 1–26. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2015.11.023

- Amintoosi, H., Kanhere, S. S., & Allahbakhsh, M. (2015). Trust-based privacy-aware participant selection in social participatory sensing. *Journal of Information Security and Applications*. 20, 11-25. doi:10.1016/j.jisa.2014.10.003
- Aravamudhan, N. R., & Krishnaveni, R. (2016). Establishing content validity for new performance management capacity building scale. *IUP Journal of Management Research*, 15, 20-43. Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in
- Archibald, M. M. (2015). Investigator triangulation: A collaborative strategy with potential for mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 10, 228-250. doi:10.1177/1558689815570092
- Armitage, H. M., Webb, A., & Glynn, J. (2016). The use of management accounting techniques by small and medium-sized enterprises: A field study of Canadian and Australian practice. *Accounting Perspectives*, 15, 31–69. doi:10.1111/1911-3838.12089
- Arnold, M. C., & Gillenkirch, R. M. (2015). Using negotiated budgets for planning and performance evaluation: An experimental study. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 43, 1-16. doi:10.1016/j.aos.2015.02.002
- Azudin, A., & Mansor, N. (2018). Management accounting practices of SMEs: The impact of organizational DNA, business potential and operational technology.
   Asia Pacific Management Review, 23, 222–226. doi:10.1016/j.apmrv.2017.07.014
- Babbie, E. (2016). *The practice of social research* (14th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.

- Bahri, M., St-Pierre, J., & Sakka, O. (2017). Performance measurement and management for manufacturing SMEs: A financial statement-based system. *Measuring Business Excellence*, 21, 17-36. doi:10.1108/MBE-06-2015-0034
- Baker, H. K., Kumar, S., Colombage, S., & Singh, H.P. (2017). Working capital management practices in India: Survey evidence. *Managerial Finance*, *43*, 331-353. doi:10.1108/MF-07-2016-0186
- Bakri, H., Mohamed, N., Said, J. (2017). Mitigating asset misappropriation through integrity and fraud risk elements: Evidence emerging economies. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 24, 242-255. doi:10.1108/JFC-04-2016-0024
- Banham, H., & He, Y. (2014). Exploring the relationship between accounting professionals and small and medium enterprises (SMEs). *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 12, 209-214. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com
- Bass, B. M. (1985). *Leadership and performance beyond expectations*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Bell, K., Fahmy, E., & Gordon, D. (2016). Quantitative conversations: The importance of developing rapport in standardised interviewing. *Quality & Quantity*, 50, 193-212. doi:10.1007/s11135-014-0144-2
- Belle Isle, M., & Freudenberg, B. (2015). Calm waters: GST and cash flow stability for small businesses in Australia. *eJournal of Tax Research*, 13, 492-532. Retrieved from https://www.business.unsw.edu.au
- Belle Isle, M., Freudenberg, B., & Sarker, T. (2018). Is the Literacy of small business owners important for cash flow management: The experts' perspective. *Journal of*

- the Australasian Tax Teachers Association, 13, 31–67. Retrieved from https://www.business.unsw.edu.au
- Benia, L. R., Hauck-Filho, N., Dillenburg, M., & Stein, L. M. (2015). The NICHD investigative interview protocol: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 24, 259-279. doi:10.1080/10538712.2015.1006749
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*, 219-234. doi:10.1177/1468794112468475
- Berglund, H. (2015). Between cognition and discourse: Phenomenology and the study of entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 21, 472-488. doi:10.1108/ijebr-12-2013-0210
- Bernheim, B. D. (1995). Do households appreciate their financial vulnerabilities? An analysis of actions, perceptions, and public policy. *Tax Policy and Economic Growth*, 1995a, 1-30. Retrieved from http://accf.org
- Beskow, L. M., Dombeck, C. B., Thompson, C. P., Watson-Ormond, J., & Weinfurt, K.
  P. (2015). Informed consent for biobanking: Consensus-based guidelines for adequate comprehension. *Genetics in Medicine*, 17, 226-233.
  doi:10.1038/gim.2014.102
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870

- Bowden, C., & Galindo-Gonzalez, S. (2015). Interviewing when you're not face-to-face:

  The use of email interviews in a phenomenological study. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 79-92. Retrieved from http://ijds.org
- Brennan, P. F., & Bakken, S. (2015). Nursing needs big data, and big data needs nursing. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 47, 477-484. doi:10.1111/jnu.12159
- Bristowe, K., Selman, L., & Murtagh, F. E. (2015). Qualitative research methods in renal medicine: An introduction. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, *30*, 1424-1431. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu410
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research.

  \*American Journal of Public Health, 105, 900-908. Retrieved from http://www.ajph.aphapublications.org
- Brown, M., Grigsby, J., van der Klaauw, W., Wen, J., & Zafar, B. (2016). Financial education and the debt behavior of the young. *Review of Financial Studies*, 29, 2490–2522. doi:10.1093/rfs/hhw006
- Bunn, E., Ethridge, J., & Crow, K. (2019). Fraud in small businesses: A preliminary study. *Journal of Accounting & Finance*, 19(3), 24–32. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- Bunney, D., Sharplin, E., & Howitt, C. (2015). Generic skills for graduate accountants: the bigger picture, a social and economic imperative in the new knowledge economy. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *34*, 256–269. doi:10.1080/07294360.2014.956700

- Burke, M. M., & Gandolfi, W. R. (2014). U.S. accounting education: Misalignment with the needs of small and medium companies. *American Journal of Business Education*, 7, 339-348. doi:10.19030/ajbe.v7i4.8813
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Cairney, P., & St Denny, E. (2015). Reviews of what is qualitative research and what is qualitative interviewing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology:*Theory and Practice, 18, 117-125. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.957434
- Cameron, R., Sankaran, S., & Scales, J. (2015). Mixed methods use in project management research. *Project Management Journal*, 46, 90-104. doi:10.1002/pmj.21484
- Carey, P. J. (2015). External accountants' business advice and SME performance. *Pacific Accounting Review*, 27, 166-188. doi:10.1108/PAR-04-2013-0020
- Carey, P. & Tanewski, G. (2016). The provision of business advice to SMEs by external accountants. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 31, 290 313. doi:10.1108/MAJ-12-2014-1131
- Carniani, E, D'Arenzo, D., Lazouski, A., Martinelli, F., Mori, P. (2016). In modeling and management for big data analytics and visualization. *Future Generation*Computer Systems, 63, 37-55. doi:10.1016/j.future.2016.04.010
- Catto, M. C. (2016). Role of strategic planning, accounting information and advisors in the growth of small to medium enterprises. *Asia-Pacific Management Accounting Journal*, 11(1), 59–78. Retrieved from http://apmaj.uitm.edu.my

- Chan, N. N., & Walker, C. (2015). An exploration of students' lived experiences of using smartphones in diverse learning contexts using a hermeneutic phenomenological approach. *Computers & Education*, 82, 96-106.

  doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2014.11.001
- Chattopadhyay, S., Gulati, P., & Bose, I. (2018). Awareness and participation of small retail businesses in cashless transactions: An empirical study. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy*, 6, 209-225. doi:10.25019/MDKE/6.2.02
- Chittenden, F., & Derregia, M. (2015). Uncertainty, irreversibility and the use of 'rules of thumb' in capital budgeting. *The British Accounting Review*, 47, 225-236. doi:10.1016/j.bar.2013.12.003
- Cleary, P., & Quinn, M. (2016). Intellectual capital and business performance: An exploratory study of the impact of cloud-based accounting and finance infrastructure. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, *17*, 255-278. doi:10.1108/JIC-06-2015-0058
- Cole, S., Paulson, A., & Shastry, G. K. (2016). High school curriculum and financial outcomes. *Journal of Human Resources*, *51*, 656–698. doi:10.3368/jhr.51.3.0113-5410R1
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Understanding research. Trustworthiness in qualitative research.

  \*\*MEDSURG Nursing\*, 25(6), 435-436. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net\*

- Cook, R. A., & Wolverton, J. B. (2015). A scorecard for small business performance.

  \*\*Journal of Small Business Strategy, 6(2), 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.jsbs.org
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 40, 78-91. doi:10.3109/13668250.2014.964191
- Ćumurović, A., & Hyll, W. (2019). Financial literacy and self-employment. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53, 455–487. doi:10.1111/joca.12198
- Cuzdriorean, D. D. (2017). The use of management accounting practices by Romanian small and medium-sized enterprises: A field study. *Accounting & Management Information Systems*, 16, 291–312. doi:10.24818/jamis.2017.02004
- Danjuma, I., Umar, M. S., & Hammawa, D. D. (2015). Mediating effects of cash management in relationship between capital structure and liquidity in small and medium enterprises. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 5, 995-1000. Retrieved from https://www.econjournals.com
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2017). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dilla, W. N. & Raschke, R.L. (2015). Data visualization for fraud detection: Practice implications and a call for future research. *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, 16, 1-22. doi:10.1016/j.accinf.2015.01.001

- Drexler, A., Fischer, G., & Schoar, A. (2014). Keeping it simple: Financial literacy and rules of thumb. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 6(2), 1-31. doi:10.1257/app.6.2.1
- Duvall Antonacopoulos, N. M., & Serin, R. C. (2016). Comprehension of online informed consents: Can it be improved? *Ethics & Behavior*, 26, 177–193. doi:10.1080/10508422.2014.1000458
- Emerson, R. W. (2015). Convenience sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling: How does sampling affect the validity of research? *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 109(2), 164-168. Retrieved from http://www.afb.org
- Emsfors, E., & Holmberg, L. (2015). Uncertainty, information practices and accounting in small firms. *Small Business Institute Journal*, 11(1), 49-64. Retrieved from http://www.sbij.org
- Eniola, A. A., & Entebang, H. (2017). SME managers and financial literacy. *Global Business Review*, *18*, 559-576. doi:10.1177/0972150917692063
- Enow, S. T., & Kamala, P. (2016). Cash Management practices of small, medium and micro enterprises in Cape Metropolis, South Africa. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, *13*(1), 230-236. doi:10.21511/imfi.13(1-1).2016.10
- Eslamian, J., Moeini, M., & Soleimani, M. (2015). Challenges in nursing continuing education: A qualitative study. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research*, 20, 378-386. Retrieved from http://ijnmr.mui.ac.ir/index.php

- Estwick, S. A. (2016). The impact of principal-principal conflict on financial flexibility. *Qualitative Research in Financial Markets*, 8, 305-330. doi:10.1108/QRFM-12-2015-0043
- Ezeagba, C. (2017). Financial reporting in small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Nigeria: Challenges and options. *International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences*, 7(1), 1-10. doi:10.6007/IJARAFMS/v7-i1/2534
- Fetters, M. D. (2016). Haven't we always been doing mixed methods research? Lessons learned from the development of the horseless carriage. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 10, 3-11. doi:10.1177/1558689815620883
- Foyeke, O. I., Olusola, F. S., & Aderemi, A. K. (2016). Financial structure and the profitability of manufacturing companies in Nigeria. *Journal of Accounting, Finance and Auditing Studies*, 2(3), 56-63. Retrieved from https://jafas.org
- Frazer, L. (2016). Internal control: Is it a benefit or fad to small companies? A literature dependency perspective. *Journal of Accounting & Finance (2158-3625), 16*, 149-161. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- Free, C. & Murphy, P. R. (2015). The ties that bind: The decision to co-offend in fraud. Contemporary Accounting Research, 32, 18-54. doi:10.1111/1911-3846.12063
- Friginal, J., Martínez, M., de Andrés, D., & Ruiz, J. (2016). Multi-criteria analysis of measures in benchmarking: Dependability benchmarking as a case study. *Journal of Systems & Software*, 111, 105-118. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2015.08.052

- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

  The Qualitative Report, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Gagliardi, C. (2014). The reality of fraud risk. *The CPA Journal*, 84(4), 11. Retrieved from http://www.cpajournal.com
- Garcia, R. (2017). Profitability and efficiency evaluation of the financial management of socio-economic intervention. *Management and Marketing*. 12, 316-333. doi:10.1515/mmcks-2017-0019
- Ghosh, S. (2015). Trade credit, bank credit and crisis: Some empirical evidence for India? *Margin: The Journal of Applied Economic Research*, 9(4), 333. doi:10.1177/0973801015596854
- Gonzalez, V., Rowson, J., & Yoxall, A. (2015). Development of the variable dexterity test: Construction, reliability and validity. *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 22, 174-180. doi:10.12968/ijtr.2015.22.4.174
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. L. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N.K. Denzin, & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 105-117). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Haron, N., Yahya, S., & Haron, H. (2014). Cash flow information and small enterprises' performance. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 7, 7-17. Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487

- Hedlund, E., Börjesson, B., & Österberg, J. (2015). Team learning in a multinational military staff exercise. *Small Group Research*, 46, 179-203. doi:10.1177/1046496414568462
- Hess, M. F., & Cottrell, J. H. (2016). Fraud risk management: A small business perspective. *Business Horizons*, *59*, 13-18. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2015.09.005
- Hoque, M. Z. (2017). Mental budgeting and the financial management of small and medium entrepreneurs. *Cogent Economics & Finance*, *5*(1), 1-19. doi:10.1080/23322039.2017.1291474
- Invernizzi, A. C., Menozzi, A., Passarani, D. A., Patton, D., & Viglia, G. (2016).

  Entrepreneurial overconfidence and its impact upon performance. *International Small Business Journal*, *35*, 709-723. doi:10.1177/0266242616678445
- Iqbal, A., & Zhuquan, W. (2015). Working capital management and profitability evidence from firms listed on Karachi stock exchange. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(2), 231-235. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n2p231
- Jamil, S. A., Al Ani, M. K., & Al Shubiri, F. N. (2015). The effect of working capital management efficiency on the operating performance of the industrial companies in Oman. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 5(4), 897-904. Retrieved from http://www.econjournals.com
- Jarvis, B. P., & Dallery, J. (2017). Internet-based self-tailored deposit contracts to promote smoking reduction and abstinence. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 50, 189–205. doi:10.1002/jaba.377

- Jha, R. & Depoo, T. (2017). Role of microenterprises in recovering U.S. economy- post 2008 financial crisis. *The Journal of Applied Business and Economics*, 19(3), 9-28. doi: 10.33423/jabe.v19i3.704
- Jorgensen, M. (2016). Strategies that power the potential of A/P optimisation. *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems*, 9, 290-295. Retrieved from https://www.henrystewartpublications.com
- Kachouie, R., & Sedighadeli, S. (2015). New product development success factors in prospector organisations: Mixed method approach. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 19, 150-155. doi:10.1142/s1363919615500401
- Kapardis, M. K., & Papastergiou, K. (2016) Fraud victimization in Greece: Room for improvement in prevention and detection. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 23, 481-500. doi:10.1108/JFC-02-2015-0010
- Karadağ, H. (2015). Financial management challenges in small and medium-sized enterprises: A strategic management approach. *Emerging Markets Journal*, *5*(1), 26-40. doi:10.5195/emaj.2015.67
- Karadağ, H. (2018). Cash, receivables and inventory management practices in small enterprises: Their associations with financial performance and competitiveness. Small Enterprise Research, 25, 69–89. doi:10.1080/13215906.2018.1428912
- Karim, N., Nawawi, A., Salin, A. (2018). Inventory control weaknesses a case study of lubricant manufacturing company. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 26, 436-439. doi:10.1108/JFC-11-2016-0077

- Katz, R. L. (1955). Skills of an effective administrator. *Harvard Business Review*, *33*(1), 33-42. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/1974/09/skills-of-an-effective-administrator
- Kaya, H. D. (2018). An empirical study on the relationship between the state of the economy and small firm characteristics: U.S. case. *Management Research and Practice*, *10*(4), 33-45. Retrieved from http://www.mrp.ase.ro
- Kemp, A., Bowman, A., Blom, B., Visser, C., Bergoer, D., Fullard, D., ... Bruwer, J.P. (2015). The usefulness of cash budgets in micro, very small and small retail enterprises operating in the Cape Metropolis. *Expert Journal of Business and Management*, 3, 1-12. Retrieved from http://business.expertjournals.com
- Kennedy, J. P., (2018). Asset misappropriation in small business. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 25, 369-383. doi:10.1108/JFC-01-2017-0004
- Kennedy, J. P., & Benson, M. L. (2016). Emotional reactions to employee theft and the managerial dilemmas small business owners face. *Criminal Justice Review*, 4, 257-277. doi:10.1177/0734016816638899
- Khankeh, H., Ranjbar, M., Khorasani-Zavareh, D., Zargham-Boroujeni, A., & Johansson,
  E. (2015). Challenges in conducting qualitative research in health: A conceptual paper. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research*, 20, 635-641.
  doi:10.4103/1735-9066.170010
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*, 397-414. doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941

- Kramer, B. (2015). Trust, but verify: Fraud in small businesses. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 22, 4-20. doi:10.1108/JSBED-08-2012-0097
- Kulkarni, S. S., & Hanley-Maxwell, C. (2015). Preservice teachers' student teaching experiences in East Africa. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 42, 59-81. Retrieved from http://www.teqjournal.org
- Landrum, B., & Garza, G. (2015). Mending fences: Defining the domains and approaches of quantitative and qualitative research. *Qualitative Psychology*, 2, 199–209. doi:10.1037/qup0000030
- Latiffi, A. A., Brahim, J., & Fathi, M. S. (2016). Transformation of Malaysian construction industry with building information modelling (BIM). *MATEC Web of Conferences*, 66, 1-8. doi:10.1051/matecconf/20166600022
- Laukkanen, L., Suhonen, R., & Leino-Kilpi, H. (2015). Solving work-related ethical problems: The activities of nurse managers. *Nursing Ethics*, *14*, 61-78. doi:10.1177/1468794112465632
- Lee, R. Y., Moles, R., & Chaar, B. (2015). Mifepristone (RU486) in Australian pharmacies: The ethical and practical challenges. *Contraception*, *91*, 25-30. doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2014.08.003
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2018). *Practical research: Planning and design* (12th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Legenne, M., Chirac, A., Ruer, M., Reix, F., & Fibet, M. (2015). Perception of naturopathy for female patients with metastatic gynecological cancer: A

- qualitative study. *Palliative and Supportive Care, 13*, 1-6. doi:10.1017/S1478951515000553
- Letourneau, J. L. H. (2015). Infusing qualitative research experiences into core counseling curriculum courses. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counseling*, *37*, 375-389. doi:10.1007/s10447-015-9251-6
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*, 473-475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry* (1st ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Liu, S., Chan, F. T. S., & Ran, W. (2016). Decision making for the selection of cloud vendor: An improved approach under group decision-making with integrated weights and objective/subjective attributes. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 55, 37–47. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2016.01.059
- López, O. L., & Hiebl, M. R. W. (2015). Management accounting in small and medium-sized enterprises: Current knowledge and avenues for further research. *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, 27(1), 81–119. doi:10.2308/jmar-50915
- Lusardi, A., Michaud, P. C., & Mitchell, O. S. (2017a). Optimal financial knowledge and wealth inequality. *Journal of Political Economy*, 125, 431-477. doi:10.1086/690950

- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2014). The economic importance of financial literacy:

  Theory and evidence. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *52*, 5-44.

  doi:10.1257/jel.52.1.5
- Lusardi, A., Samek, A., Kapteyn, A., Glinert, L., Hung, A., & Heinberg, A. (2017b).

  Visual tools and narratives: New ways to improve financial literacy. *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance*, 16, 297-323. doi:10.1017/S1474747215000323
- Lusardi, A., & Tufano, P. (2015). Debt literacy, financial experiences, and overindebtedness. *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance*, *14*, 332-368. doi:10.1017/S1474747215000232
- Lynch, D., Smith, R., Provost, S., & Madden, J. (2016). Improving teaching capacity to increase student achievement: The key role of data interpretation by school leaders. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *54*, 575-592. doi:10.1108/JEA-10-2015-0092
- Lyngstadaas, H., Berg, T. (2016) Working capital management: evidence from Norway. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 12, 295-313. doi:10.1108/IJMF-01-2016-0012
- Malmström, M. (2014). Typologies of bootstrap financing behavior in small ventures. *Venture Capital*, 16(1), 27–50. doi:10.1080/13691066.2013.863064
- Mangiuc, D. (2017). Accountants and the cloud Involving the professionals. *Accounting*& Management Information Systems / Contabilitate Si Informatica de Gestiune,

  16, 179–198. Retrieved from http://jamis.ase.ro

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, C.B. (2016). *Designing Qualitative Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Martínez-Sola, C., García-Teruel, P. J., & Martínez-Solano, P. (2018). Cash holdings in SMEs: Speed of adjustment, growth and financing. *Small Business Economics*, 51, 823–842. doi:10.1007/s11187-018-9990-y
- Mazzarol, T. (2014). Research review: A review of the latest research in the field of small business and entrepreneurship: Financial management in SMEs. *Small Enterprise Research*, 21, 2-13. doi:10.5172/ser.2014.21.1.2
- McAbee, E. R., Drasgow, E., & Lowrey, K. A. (2017). How do deaf adults define quality of life? *American Annals of the Deaf*, 162, 333-349. doi:10.1353/aad.2017.0031
- Montesi, M. & Álvarez Bornstein, B. (2017). Defining a theoretical framework for information seeking and parenting: Concepts and themes from a study with mothers supportive of attachment parenting. *Journal of Documentation*, 73, 186-209. doi:10.1108/JD-04-2016-0047
- Milosevic, I., Bass, A. E., & Combs, G. M. (2015). The paradox of knowledge creation in a high-reliability organization: A case study. *Journal of Management*, 44, 1174-1201. doi:10.1177/0149206315599215
- Modlin, S. (2014). Collecting and disbursing: Increasing cash management efficiency through the utilization of bank services. *Public Finance and Management*, *14*, 357-370. Retrieved from https://pfm.spaef.org

- Mohamad, A., Zakaria, M. H. and Hamid, Z. (2016). Cash economy: tax evasion amongst SMEs in Malaysia. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 23, 974-986. doi:10.1108/JFC-05-2015-0025
- Moonaghi, H. K., Mirhaghi, A., Oladi, S., & Zeydi, A. E. (2015). A journey across an unwelcoming field: A qualitative study exploring the factors influencing nursing students' clinical education. *Health Science Journal*, *9*(4), 1-6. Retrieved from http://www.hsj.gr
- Moore, J. (2018). The relationship between organization size and occupational fraud.

  \*International Research Journal of Applied Finance, 9, 248-276. Retrieved from https://www.irjaf.com
- Morse, J. (2015a). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Morse, J. M. (2015b). "Data were saturated..." *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 587-588. doi:10.1177/1049732315576699
- Morse, J. M., & Coulehan, J. (2015). Maintaining confidentiality in qualitative publications. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 151-152. doi:10.1177/1049732314563489
- Mun, S. G., & Jang, S. (2015). Working capital, cash holding, and profitability of restaurant firms. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 48, 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.04.003

- Mungal, A., & Garbharran, H. L. (2014). The perceptions of small businesses in the implementation of cash management techniques. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies*, 6, 75-83. Retrieved from https://ojs.amhinternational.com
- Mumford, M. D., Marks, M. A., Connelly, M. S., Zaccaro, S. J., & Reiter-Palmon, R. (2000). Development of leadership skills: Experience and timing. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 11, 87. doi:10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00044-2
- Mutnuru, S. (2016). The role of internal controls on employees' engagement in small organizations. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 7(4), 102-114. Retrieved from http://www.http://www.jbsq.org
- Nafees, B., Ahmad, N., & Rasheed, A. (2017). The determinants of cash holdings:

  Evidence from SMEs in Pakistan. *Paradigms*, 11, 111-115.

  doi:10.24312/paradigms110117
- Nassaji, H. (2015). Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis. Language Teaching Research, 19(2), 129-132. doi:10.1177/1362168815572747
- Nkwake, A. M., & Morrow, N. (2016). Clarifying concepts and categories of assumptions for use in evaluation. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *59*, 97-101. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.05.014
- Nobanee, H., & Abraham, J. (2015). Current assets management of small enterprises. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 42, 549-560, doi:10.1080/08276331.2015.1114351
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054

- Nwobu, O., Faboyede, S. O., & Onwuelingo, A. T. (2015). The role of accounting services in small and medium scale businesses in Nigeria. *Journal of Accounting, Business & Management*, 22(1), 55-63. Retrieved from http://jabm.stie-mce.ac.id
- Nyhan, B. (2015). Increasing the credibility of political science research: A proposal for journal reforms. *Political Science*, 48(1), 78-83. doi:10.1017/s1049096515000463
- O'Connell, T. S., Dyment, J. E., & Smith, H. A. (2015). Students' appropriation, rejection and perceptions of creativity in reflective journals. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 27(1), 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.isetl.org
- Okabe, K., & Suez-Sales, M. G. (2015). Exploratory research on SMEs' utilization of the statement of cash flows in Japan and Guam. *Journal of International Business*\*Research, 14(3), 29-40. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/international-business-research
- Omar, M., Nawawi, A., & Puteh Salin, A. S. A. (2016). The causes, impact and prevention of employee fraud. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 23, 1012-1027. doi:10.1108/JFC-04-2015-0020
- Orobia, L. A., Padachi, K., & Munene, J. C. (2016). Why some small businesses ignore austere working capital management routines. *Journal of Accounting in Emerging Economies*, 6, 94-110. doi:10.1108/JAEE-08-2013-0039
- Otto, W. H. (2018). Management of trade credit by small and medium-sized enterprises.

  \*Journal of Economic and Financial Sciences, 11, 1-8. doi:10.4102/jef.v11i1.178

- Pais, M. A., & Gama, P. M. (2015). Working capital management and SMEs profitability: Portuguese evidence. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 11, 341-358. doi:10.1108/IJMH-11-2014-0170
- Pavlis, N. E., Moschuris, S. J., & Laios, L. G. (2018). Supply management performance and cash conversion cycle. *International Journal of Supply and Operations*Management, 5, 107-121. doi: 10.22034/2018.2.1
- Plamondon, K. M., Bottorff, J. L., & Cole, D. C. (2015). Analyzing data generated through deliberative dialogue: Bringing knowledge translation into qualitative analysis. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*, 1529-1539. doi:10.1177/1049732315581603
- Powell, K., Wilson, V. J., Redmond, N. M., Gaunt, D. M., & Ridd, M. J. (2016).

  Exceeding the recruitment target in a primary care paediatric trial: An evaluation of the choice of moisturiser for eczema treatment (COMET) feasibility randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, *17*, 1-10. doi:10.1186/s13063-016-1659-8
- Prasad, M. (2017). Cash management practices of small business owners: A study in urban area of Siliguri subdivision. *ITIHAS The Journal of Indian Management*, 7(1), 62-68. Retrieved from www.itihas.org
- Psillaki, M., & Eleftheriou, K. (2015). Trade credit, bank credit, and flight to quality: Evidence from French SMEs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *53*(4), 1219-1240. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12106

- Rahman, K., & Areni, C. (2016). The benefits of quantifying qualitative brand data. *International Journal of Market Research*, 58(3), 421-450. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2015-053
- Reich, J. A. (2015). Old methods and new technologies: Social media and shifts in power in qualitative research. *Ethnography*, *16*, 394-15. doi:10.1177/1466138114552949
- Riera, A., Ocasio, A., Tiyyagura, G., Krumeich, L., Ragins, K., Thomas, A., ...Vaca, F. E. (2015). Latino caregiver experiences with asthma health communication. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 16-26. doi:10.1177/1049732314549474
- Righetto, G. M., Morabito, R., & Alem, D. (2016). A robust optimization approach for cash flow management in stationery companies. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 99, 137-152. doi:10.1016/j.cie.2016.07.010
- Rohlfing, S., & Sonnenberg, S. (2016). "Who is really British anyway?" A thematic analysis of responses to online hate materials. *Cyberpsychology*, *10*, 75-98. doi:10.5817/CP2016-4-2
- Rostamkalaei, A., & Freel, M. (2016). The cost of growth: small firms and the pricing of bank loans. *Small Business Economics*, 46, 255-272. doi:10.1007/s11187-015-9681-x
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21, 332-342. doi:10.1177/1077800414563803

- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77, 243-260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147
- Salas-Molina, F., Martin, F. J., Rodriguez-Aguilar, J. A., Serra, J., & Arcos, J. L. (2017).

  Empowering cash managers to achieve cost savings by improving predictive accuracy. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 33, 403-415.

  doi:10.1016/j.ijforecast.2016.11.002
- Şamiloğlu, F., & Akgün, A. İ. (2016). The relationship between working capital management and profitability: Evidence from Turkey. *Business & Economics Research Journal*, 7(2), 1-14. doi:10.20409/berj.2016217492
- Samuel, P. (2017). Strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10599598)
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2015).

  Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 8, 7-14.

  Retrieved from http://jmehm.tums.ac.ir
- Sarma, S. K. (2015). Qualitative research: Examining the misconceptions. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 22(3), 176-191. Retrieved from http://www.sajmamdisa.org
- Saxena, R. (2017). Muddling through the passage of qualitative research: Experiences of a novice researcher. *Vision*, *21*, 314-322. doi:10.1177/0972262917721423

- Shamsudin, A., & Kamaluddin, A. (2015). Impending bankruptcy: Examining cash flow pattern of distress and healthy firms. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *31*, 766-774. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(15)01166-1
- Shields, J. & Shelleman, J. (2016). Management Accounting Systems in Micro-SMEs. *The Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 21(1), 19-31. doi:10.9774/gleaf.3709.2016.ja.00004
- Sibanda J. J., & Manda, D.C. (2016). Symptoms of accounting practices that contribute to small business failures. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, *14*, 194-202. doi:10.21511/ppm.14(4-1).2016.08
- Siekei, J., Wagoki, J., & Kalio, A. (2013). An assessment of the role of financial literacy on performance of small and micro enterprises: Case of equity group foundation training program on SMEs in Njoro district, Kenya. *World Academic Journal of Business & Applied Sciences, March-September*, 1(7), 250–261. Retrieved from http://worldacademicjournals.weebly.com
- Snelson, C. L. (2016). Qualitative and mixed methods social media research: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 15, 1-15. doi:10.1177/1609406915624574
- Steinmeier, M. (2016). Fraud in sustainability departments? An exploratory study. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 138, 477-492. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2615-3
- Sukumaran, K. (2015). Financial literacy concept and practice. *DAWN: Journal for Contemporary Research in Management*, 2(1), 59-65. Retrieved from http://dawn-svims.in/2015-vol-1

- Teruel, M. A., Navarro, E., González, P., López-Jaquero, V., & Montero, F. (2016).

  Applying thematic analysis to define an awareness interpretation for collaborative computer games. *Information and Software Technology, 74*, 17-44.

  doi:10.1016/j.infsof.2016.01.009
- Thaker, M. T., Bin, M. A., Mohammed, M. O., Duasa, J. & Abdullah, M. A. (2016).

  Developing cash waqf model as an alternative source of financing for micro enterprises in Malaysia. *Journal of Islamic Accounting and Business Research*, 7, 254-267. doi:10.1108/JIABR-09-2014-0029
- Theron, P. M. (2015). Coding and data analysis during qualitative empirical research in practical Theology/Kodering en data-analise tydens kwalitatiewe empiriese navorsing in praktiese teologie. *In Die Skriflig, 49*(3), 1-9. doi:10.4102/ids.v49i3.1880
- Tokar Asaad, C. (2015). Financial literacy and financial behavior: Assessing knowledge and confidence. *Financial Services Review*, 24, 101–117. Retrieved from https://academyfinancial.org
- Tran, H., Abbott, M., & Yap, C. J. (2017). How does working capital management affect the profitability of Vietnamese small-and medium-sized enterprises? *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 24, 2-11. doi:10.1108/JSBED-05-2016-0070
- Tsuruta, D. (2016). No lending relationships and liquidity management of small businesses during a financial shock. *Journal of the Japanese and International Economies*, 42, 31-46. doi:10.1016/j.jjie.2016.09.001

- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *Belmont Report*. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- U.S. Internal Revenue Service. (2010). *Cash Intensive Businesses Audit Techniques Guide*. Retrieved from https://www.irs.gov/businesses/small-businesses-self-employed
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2017). Frequently Asked Questions About Small Business. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/SB-FAQ-2017-WEB.pdf
- Vance, C. D. (2015). Decision-Making Considerations for Mid-Career Army Officers to Pursue Masters Degrees. *Adult Learning*, 26(3), 109-115. doi:10.1177/1045159515583260
- Vitt, L. A., Anderson, C., Kent, J., Lyter, D. M., Siegenthaler, K. K., & Ward, J. (2000).

  \*Personal finance and the rush to competence: Financial literacy education in the U.S. Middleburg, VA: Institute for Socio-Financial Studies.
- Walker, D. A. (2016). Credit unions' rising share of small business loans. *Journal of Accounting and Finance*, 16(6), 11-24. Retrieved from http://www.nabusinesspress.com
- Wall, S. (2015). Focused ethnography: A methodological adaption for social research in emerging contexts. Forum: *Qualitative Social Research*, *16*(1), 102-116.

  Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net
- Wark, S., MacPhail, C., McKay, K., & Müller, A. (2017). Informed consent in a vulnerable population group: Supporting individuals aging with intellectual

- disability to participate in developing their own health and support programs. *Australian Health Review*, 41, 436-442. doi:10.1071/AH15235
- Wilkins, A. M., & Haun, A. L. (2014). Reframing the discussion on internal control. *The CPA Journal*, 84(10), 48-51. Retrieved from http://www.cpajournal.com
- Wolf, C. A., Stephenson, M.W., Knoblauch, W. A., & Novakovic, A. M. (2016). Dairy farm financial performance: Firm, year, and size effects. *Agricultural Finance Review*, 76, 532-543. doi:10.1108/AFR-02-2016-0009
- Wölfing, D., & Moormann, J. (2017). Cash management in transition: From cash management to cash process. *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems*, 11, 343-354. Retrieved from https://www.henrystewartpublications.com
- Wolmarans, H. P., & Meintjes, Q. (2015). Financial management practices in successful small and medium enterprises (SMEs). *The Southern African Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business Management*, 7, 88-116. doi:10.4102/sajesbm.v7i1.8
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2015). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS.ti and NVivo, 1994-2013.

  Social Science Computer Review, 34, 597-617. doi:10.1177/0894439315596311
- Yazdanfar, D., & Öhman, P. (2016). The impact of trade credit use on firm profitability: empirical evidence from Sweden. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, 13(2), 116-129. doi:10.1108/JAMR-09-2015-0067

- Yazdanfar, D., & Öhman, P. (2017). Substitute or complement? The use of trade credit as a financing source among SMEs. *Management Research Review*, 40(1), 10-27. doi:10.1108/MRR-06-2015-0153
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case Study Research Design and Methods* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zeidan R., & Sahpir O. M. (2017). Cash conversion cycle and value-enhancing operations: Theory and evidence for a free lunch. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 45, 203-219. doi:10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2017.04.014

## Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview: Exploring the cash management strategies that small tavern business owners possess to achieve business sustainability.

- Upon arrival to the scheduled interview, I extended the participant a personal greeting.
- Before beginning the interview, I thanked the participant for accepting my
  invitation to participate, introduced myself, and provided an overview of the
  study.
- 3. Before they signed, I ensured that participants read and understood the informed consent form.
- 4. I explained to participants that I expected the interview to last no more than 60 minutes.
- 5. I confirmed with the interviewee that I would be audio recording the interview.
- 6. I paused to take any questions from the interviewee. Once questions were concluded, I began interviewing.
- 7. Upon conclusion of asking the interview questions, I will explained to participants that as part of member checking, I would provide them with a written account of the study conclusions and findings for validation, and to receive correction and further insights from them.
- 8. Upon concluding the interview, I stopped the audio recorder, and thanked interviewee again for taking part in the interview.

## Appendix B: Interview Questions

I asked participants the following questions:

- 1. What cash management strategies do you use now to run your business?
- 2. What were the key challenges you encountered to implementing your cash management strategies?
- 3. How did you address those key challenges to implementing your cash management strategies?
- 4. How do you assess the effectiveness of your cash management strategies?
- 5. What methods of internal control strategies do you use to safeguard cash?
- 6. How do you use bank accounts, bank statements, and reconciliations to monitor cash?
- 7. How do you manage payments to employees, vendors and creditors?
- 8. How, if at all, do you use credit cards to pay business expenses?
- 9. How do you use cash budgets to make business decisions?
- 10. How do you manage excess cash from operations?
- 11. What additional information can you provide about the cash management strategies you use to sustain your business?